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It has been a busy, rewarding first season as president of the American Council of 
Learned Societies, which I began on July 1, 2019. This report for the fiscal year  
(FY) 2018–19 gratefully honors the achievements of Pauline Yu, president from 
2003 to 2019, and offers a preview of the strategic plan that will guide our work 
for the coming four years. 

Over Pauline’s tenure, ACLS considerably expanded its reach. We diversified the 
people and the institutions represented among our applicants, reviewers, panelists, 
and our own staff. With the support of The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, one of 
our most valued partners, we established a new fellowship program in 2018 for 
community college faculty, who teach nearly half of the nation’s higher education 
students and who can proudly claim the distinction of increasing undergraduate 
enrollments in the humanities and related social sciences. 

During this period, ACLS also pioneered new approaches to increasing the impact 
of scholars in the world. Most notable is the Mellon/ACLS Public Fellows program, 
now in its tenth year, which places PhDs in important professional roles beyond the 
classroom. The Public Fellows transcend the pride we and their home departments 
take in them: they are blazing trails for hundreds of scholars seeking to bring their 
worldview, values, and skills to work outside the academy. 

The recipients of our newest Mellon-sponsored fellowship program, Scholars and 
Society, began their work this fall. Senior scholars will bring their experiences 
working in nonprofits back into their graduate programs and help to transform the 
training of doctoral students across the country. 

Our new strategic plan, Shaping Our Second Century: 2020–2024, will be published 
this spring. It demonstrates our resolute commitment to sustaining scholarship in the 
humanities and humanistic social sciences. Our analysis of projects we have funded 
in the past reveals the amazing diversity of interests and methods that  characterizes 
free scholarly activity. From the examination of human values and creative 
 expressions to the analysis of social and economic structures and the investigation 
of under-studied communities and spaces, this world-changing work is our brief. 

As part of the strategic planning implementation process, we consulted broadly with 
the directors and delegates of our learned societies, leaders in our Research University 
Consortium and Associate universities, funders and philanthropic supporters, past 
and current fellows, and groundbreaking thinkers about structural transformation 
in academia and beyond. Our conversations echo a common set of concerns and 
hopes. Inequity in and across institutions is worsening and can make collaboration 
difficult. The academy is diversifying with regard to race and class, but much work 
remains to be done. Above all, we are most excited about redesigning scholarly 
habits so that they respond to the interests and needs of diverse learners at all levels.  
The amazing variety of ways to communicate now available to us are spurring 
exciting fresh thinking about how best to circulate scholarly knowledge. 

A  M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  P R E S I D E N T

ACLS president Joy Connolly

Joy Connolly began her service as 

president of the American Council of 

Learned Societies in July 2019. 

Previously, she served as provost and 

interim president of the Graduate 

Center at the City University of New 

York, where she was also Distinguished 

Professor of Classics. She has held 

faculty appointments at New York 

University (where she served as Dean 

for the Humanities from 2012–16), 

Stanford University, and the University 

of Washington. She has published two 

books with Princeton University Press 

and more than seventy articles, 

reviews, and short essays. 
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The good news is that we see change for the good everywhere we go. From our 
earliest decades, ACLS has supported emerging fields such as African and East 
Asian studies. Today we continue to support scholars charting new areas— especially 
human experiences and achievements that the academy of the nineteenth and 
twentieth centuries discounted as unworthy of scholarly attention. From first-year 
graduate students to senior leaders in their fields, scholars are asking tough and 
necessary foundational questions about conventional definitions of excellence; 
about race, equity, and inclusion; about what counts as scholarship and scholarly 
community; about responsible mentorship and public engagement. All this and 
much more are reasons for enthusiasm and confidence. 

ACLS occupies a unique position in the middle of flows of information and  knowledge 
in universities, colleges, and learned societies. Our planning revolves around how, 
given this position, we can help improve the conditions in which scholars work and 
help broaden the definition of scholarship itself. In the coming years, we will use 
our convening power to intensify our efforts to tackle the challenges facing the 
humanities and humanistic social sciences across the United States and in other 
parts of the world where ACLS has a history of activity. Surveying the landscape, 
we see unmissable opportunities for growth and positive change.  

This report was created before the onset of the coronavirus and its devastating 
impact all around the world. In the following pages and on our website, I encourage 
you to read about our programs and the people they support: I’m confident you will 
be as inspired as I am. 

Sincerely,

Joy Connolly
President
American Council of Learned Societies
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American Society for Aesthetics, 1942 (1950)

American Society for Eighteenth-Century Studies, 1969 (1976)

American Society for Environmental History, 1977 (2004)

American Society for Legal History, 1956 (1973)

American Society for Theatre Research, 1956 (1975)

American Society of Church History, 1888 (2001)

American Society of Comparative Law, 1951 (1995)

American Society of International Law, 1906 (1971)

American Sociological Association, 1905 (1919)

American Studies Association, 1950 (1958)

Archaeological Institute of America, 1879 (1919)

Association for Asian Studies, 1941 (1954)

Association for Jewish Studies, 1969 (1985)

Association for Slavic, East European, and Eurasian Studies,  
1948 (1984)

Association for the Advancement of Baltic Studies,  
1968 (1991)

Association of American Geographers, 1904 (1941)

Association of American Law Schools, 1900 (1958)

Austrian Studies Association, 1961 (2017)

Bibliographical Society of America, 1904 (1929)

College Art Association, 1911 (1942)

College Forum of the National Council of Teachers  
of English, 1911 (1996)

Dance Studies Association, 1979 (1996) 

Dictionary Society of North America, 1975 (1994)

Economic History Association, 1940 (1967)

German Studies Association, 1976 (1995)

Hispanic Society of America, 1904 (1973)

History of Science Society, 1924 (1927)

International Center of Medieval Art, 1956 (2000)

Latin American Studies Association, 1966 (1990)

Law and Society Association, 1964 (1997)

Linguistic Society of America, 1924 (1927)

Medieval Academy of America, 1925 (1927)

Metaphysical Society of America, 1950 (1958)

Middle East Studies Association of North America, 1966 (1988)

Modern Language Association of America, 1883 (1920)

National Communication Association, 1914 (1997)

National Council on Public History, 1979 (2002)

North American Conference on British Studies, 1950 (2007)

Oral History Association 1966 (2014)

Organization of American Historians, 1907 (1971)

Renaissance Society of America, 1954 (1958)

Rhetoric Society of America, 1968 (2008)

Shakespeare Association of America, 1972 (2015) 

Sixteenth Century Society and Conference, 1970 (1990)

Society for American Music, 1975 (1995)

Society for Cinema and Media Studies, 1959 (1990)

Society for Classical Studies, 1869 (1919) 

Society for Ethnomusicology, 1955 (1966)

Society for French Historical Studies, 1956 (1993)

Society for Military History, 1933 (2010)

Society for Music Theory, 1977 (2000)

Society for the Advancement of Scandinavian Study,  
1911 (2003)

Society for the History of Authorship, Reading and Publishing, 
1992 (2016)

Society for the History of Technology, 1958 (1973)

Society of Architectural Historians, 1940 (1958)

Society of Biblical Literature, 1880 (1929)

World History Association, 1982 (2011)

M E M B E R  L E A R N E D  S O C I E T I E S
year of founding (year admitted to ACLS)

3
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ACLS Digital Extension Grants, for teams of scholars seeking to enhance established digital 
projects and extend their reach to new communities of users

ACLS Fellowships, our central program, for research toward a significant scholarly work

Frederick Burkhardt Residential Fellowships for Recently Tenured Scholars, for work on a 
long-term, ambitious project

Getty/ACLS Postdoctoral Fellowships in the History of Art, for an academic year of research/
writing by early-career scholars

Luce/ACLS Dissertation Fellowships in American Art, for doctoral students in US art history at 
any point in dissertation research or writing

Luce/ACLS Program in Religion, Journalism & International Affairs: Fellowships for Scholars, 
for scholars who seek to engage the media to enrich public understanding of global religions

Mellon/ACLS Community College Faculty Fellowships supporting the research ambitions of 
humanities and social science faculty who teach at two-year institutions

Mellon/ACLS Dissertation Completion Fellowships, for doctoral students in their last year of writing

Mellon/ACLS Public Fellows, for recent PhDs to be placed in two-year, career-building 
fellowships at diverse partnering organizations in government and the nonprofit sector

Mellon/ACLS Scholars & Society Fellowships supporting doctoral faculty as they pursue publicly 
engaged scholarship and advocate for diverse professional pathways for emerging PhDs

I N T E R N AT I O N A L  F E L L O W S H I P  A N D  G R A N T  P R O G R A M S

African Humanities Program Dissertation Fellowships, for dissertation completion

African Humanities Program Postdoctoral Fellowships, for scholars within eight years of PhD

Comparative Perspectives on Chinese Culture and Society Grants, for planning meetings, 
workshops, and conferences

Luce/ACLS Program in China Studies Collaborative Reading-Workshop Grants, for in-depth, 
cross-disciplinary examinations of significant texts

Luce/ACLS Program in China Studies Postdoctoral Fellowships, for work based on research in 
China

Luce /ACLS Program in China Studies Predissertation Summer Travel Grants, for preliminary 
investigations of sources and institutional contacts in China prior to beginning dissertation 
research

The Robert H. N. Ho Family Foundation Dissertation Fellowships in Buddhist Studies, for 
research and writing

The Robert H. N. Ho Family Foundation Grants for Critical Editions and Scholarly 
Translations, for individual or collaborative projects

The Robert H. N. Ho Family Foundation New Professorships in Buddhist Studies, for seeding 
new tenure-track positions

The Robert H. N. Ho Family Foundation Postdoctoral Fellowships in Buddhist Studies, for 
two-year residencies 

The Robert H. N. Ho Family Foundation Research Fellowships in Buddhist Studies, for 
research and writing, with no restrictions on time from the PhD 

F E L L O W S H I P  A N D  G R A N T  P R O G R A M S

4
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H I G H L I G H T S  O F  A C T I V I T I E S

The American Council of Learned Societies was founded in 1919. Our constitution 
charges us to support “the advancement of humanistic studies in all fields of learning 
in the humanities and the social sciences and the maintenance and strengthening of 
 relations among the national societies devoted to such studies.” As we report on our 
centennial year, we continue to support the work of institutions to evolve to respond 
to the populations and needs of today; to nurture communities of scholars; and to 
promote the engagement of humanistic scholars with the world. These three aspects 
are interrelated, as illustrated by the following highlights of our activities from July 
2018 through June 2019. In 2018–2019, we made nearly 350 awards across 14  fellowship 
and grant programs.

S U P P O R T I N G  T H E  W O R K  O F  I N S T I T U T I O N S  T O  E V O LV E  
T O  R E S P O N D  T O  T H E  P O P U L AT I O N S  A N D  N E E D S  O F  T O D AY

In the past year, we refocused the ACLS Mellon-supported Postdoctoral Partnership 
Initiative, originally designed in 2008 to support the work of early career scholars 
during the economic crisis. We had been curious about whether and how the  relatively 
new device of humanities postdoctoral researchers was most  effective—for whom 
and to what end. Research on these programs presents some challenges, as almost 
all newly minted PhDs in the humanities who secure academic job  placements are 
happy that they landed somewhere; and most institutional units that host postdocs 
(be they a department or a humanities center) welcome the fresh thinking and 
perspectives that recent PhDs bring to their programs. Yet it remained unclear where 
and when funding for these programs were having the most impact. In response, our 
senior program officer Valerie Popp has led an initiative inspired by the successful 
efforts at the University of Chicago to work with departments to support the work of 
postdoc fellows from underrepresented minority groups with the intention of 
converting those fellowships into tenure-track roles. These ACLS postdoc awards 
support departments that are determined to make progress in a widely lauded but 
slowly realized sector-wide interest in diversifying the professoriate. 

In 2018–19, five colleges and universities received awards: the City College of New York, 
Haverford College, Temple University, the University of Illinois, Urbana–Champaign, 
and the University of Kentucky.

University of New Mexico’s Department of History Associate Professor  
Kimberly Gauderman chosen as one of twelve inaugural recipients for  
the Mellon/ACLS Scholars and Society Fellowship

Gauderman’s research project, "Practicing Asylum," is an interdisciplinary, scholarly, and 
practical guide to expert witness testimony in asylum cases. Gauderman’s work combines 
contributions from experienced expert witnesses, asylum attorneys, and immigration rights 
advocates to provide an account of best-practice standards to provide expert testimony  
for asylum cases.  “We live in harsh times; challenges for refugees to seek asylum have 
substantially increased in the last years. The goal of my book project is to encourage and 
provide guidance to academics who can provide accurate country condition reports to  
assist attorneys and immigration judges in their evaluations of individual asylum claims.”

https://news.unm.edu/news/elite-inaugural-fellowship-selects-unm-faculty-recipient
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N U R T U R I N G  C O M M U N I T I E S  O F  S C H O L A R S

In addition to our work supporting the 75 member societies that constitute the 
Council, we have embarked on efforts to strengthen the communities that ACLS 
fellowship programs have nurtured. We launched an online platform to connect the 
members of two strong, 10-year-old fellowship programs: the Public Fellows 
program (supported by The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation), which matches recent 
PhDs with  substantive full-time roles in nonprofit and government agencies, and 
the African Humanities Program (funded by the Carnegie Corporation of New York) 
that, to date, has supported the pre- and post-doctoral humanistic scholarship of 
more than 400 fellows in five countries in Africa. These vibrant and growing virtual 
communities are helping members of each group lean on one another for academic 
support and critique, navigate the next stages of their careers, and share empathy 
and strategy. The 2019 awardees for the Public Fellows program are listed on page 32.

P R O M O T I N G  T H E  E N G A G E M E N T  O F 
H U M A N I S T I C  S C H O L A R S  W I T H  T H E  W O R L D

In FY 2019, we launched a new initiative: the Scholars and Society program,  generously 
funded by The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, which supports senior scholars who 
wish to embed themselves with a non-academic host organization for one year. The 
idea behind this program is for scholars to conduct research projects in the humanities 
or humanistic social sciences while in residence at cultural, media, government, 
policy, or community organizations of their choice. This enables faculty who teach 
and advise PhD students to serve as ambassadors for humanities scholarship beyond 
the academy and deepen their support for doctoral curricular innovation on their 
campuses. The work postulates that scholars may both bring their research into public 
engagement, as well as bring that experience of engaging with societal issues back on 
campus in shaping curricula and guiding graduate students. Our first set of awardees 
has moved from the halls of academia to organizations ranging from the Skid Row 
History Museum & Archive in Los Angeles and the Cambridge City Council in Boston. 
They—along with our fellowship staff at ACLS—will learn by doing. Their work will 
include a study that illuminates the lived experiences of migrants in  detention in the 
United States and a partnership with the Utah AIDS Foundation to chronicle the chal-
lenges facing the only doctor in the state willing to treat HIV patients and the nuns of 
Holy Cross Church who ministered to Utahns living with AIDS. This important work 
has also enabled us to hire an engagement manager, Desiree Barron-Callaci, a PhD in 
cultural anthropology from New York University and an alumna of the Mellon Mays 
Undergraduate Fellowship program.

American Philosophical Association announces the release of the  
Department Advocacy Handbook

As university administrations look for ways to trim budgets, many philosophy 
departments find themselves facing an existential crisis. In fall of 2016, Amy 
Ferrer, executive director, the American Philosophical Association, asked its 
Committee on the Status and Future of the Profession to create a toolkit to 
assist programs at risk and programs aiming to strengthen or expand their 
offerings. “This toolkit is motivated by our belief in the value of philosophy,” 
Ferrer explained. “As philosophers, we know that our students, institutions, 
and societies need what we have to offer. But our discipline must do a better 
job of persuading others—especially those who are not familiar with 
philosophy—that our expertise is vital.” The resource is available as a free 
download at www.apaonline.org/page/deptadvocacytoolkit.

Amy Ferrer, executive director, the American Philosophical Association
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N A V I G AT I N G  O R G A N I Z AT I O N A L  C H A N G E 

This period was a time of significant leadership and structural change for ACLS. This 
included the retirement of president Pauline Yu and vice president Steve Wheatley, as 
well as new staff members joining the ACLS team across the organization. Since joining 
as president in July 2019, Joy Connolly has worked closely with all departments, the 
board, member societies, and consortium members, as well as funders and partners in 
managing this ongoing transition. She has been building on ACLS strengths and values 
while also presenting and implementing a vision for the future that can positively and 
effectively serve the needs of the academy today and as it continues to evolve. 

A C L S  A N N U A L  M E E T I N G 

The 2019 ACLS Annual Meeting was held on April 26 in New York City. President 
Pauline Yu reported on the state of ACLS (see pages 40–43) and held a conversation 
with Joy Connolly, her successor as president of ACLS as of July 2019. Short addresses 
illustrative of the issues with which societies are engaged were given by Alex 
Beecroft, American Comparative Literature Association; Amy Ferrer, American 
Philosophical Association; Jay Malone, History of Science Society; and Alyson Reed, 
Linguistic Society of America, and Carla Zecher, Renaissance Society of America. 
Jon Parrish Peede, chair of the National Endowment for the Humanities, was the 
luncheon speaker.

The Friday afternoon panel, “The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation: Fifty Years of 
Scholarly Communication” featured panelists Sylvester A. Johnson, professor and 
director of the Center for Humanities, Virginia Polytechnic Institute; Michael A. 
Keller, vice provost for Teaching & Learning, Ida M. Green university librarian, and 
director of Academic Information Resources, Stanford University; and Tara 
McPherson, professor and chair of Cinema and Media Studies, and director of the 
Sidney Harman Academy for Polymathic Study, University of Southern California. 
Deanna Marcum, senior advisor at Ithaka S+R, moderated the discussion.

Each year, the assembled Council has the opportunity to listen to ACLS fellows present 
their research during the “Emerging Themes and Methods of Humanities Research” 
session. This year’s featured projects considered emerging forms of hacking and tech 
entre preneurship, the Digital Transgender Archive   (www.digitaltransgenderarchive.net), 
and the concept of native craftwork as a means of communication and expression in 
early American books.

The Charles Homer Haskins Prize Lecture is a highlight of each annual meeting. 
Named for the first chairman of ACLS, the series has as its subject “A Life of Learning.” 
The 2019 Haskins Prize Lecture was delivered by Lynn Hunt, Distinguished Research 
Professor at the University of California, Los Angeles.

A Tribute to The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation at 50 

Deanna Marcum led a panel recognizing the 50th anniversary of The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, focusing on the accomplishments  
of the Scholarly Communications program, pointing out that “ . . . every person in this room has benefitted directly or indirectly from a 
scholarly communication grant from Mellon. As of March 26, 2019, Mellon had made 1,710 grants to institutions and organizations totaling 
$800,015,240.” USC professor Tara McPherson discussed the program’s Scholarly Communications Institute, which brings together  
“[s]cholars pursuing the leading edge of digital analysis gained wise counsel from library deans, IT specialists, scholarly societies, lawyers, 
and funders. Conversations across different fields and institutions helped surface shared problems and rich terrain for intervention. 
Individuals were encouraged to move beyond their particular silos and to see a bigger framework. Scholarly societies found ways to support 
their membership toward common goals and to help address thorny issues of graduate education, of tenure and promotion, and of 
worsening labor conditions.” 
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S U P P O R T  T O  A C L S
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A C L S  10 0  C E N T E N N I A L  C A M PA I G N

In April 2019, at the Centennial Celebration, ACLS launched a campaign to raise 
$125 million. We are grateful to our generous funders for their support.

P R I O R I T I E S

I N V E S T M E N T  I N  N E W  K N O W L E D G E

Research fellowships are an important means of supporting scholarly knowledge in 
the humanities and thus, one priority for increased investment. Each year we receive 
thousands of outstanding proposals from scholars working in and across a wide 
range of disciplines and areas of study. To tap into this potential, we seek to raise 
funds both for immediate use and to create endowments to support fellowships in 
vibrant new fields of study.

B E Y O N D  T H E  U S  A C A D E M Y

ACLS promotes humanistic scholarship in the public sphere and abroad. Our programs 
in sub-Saharan Africa and eastern Europe are only our latest efforts to encourage and 
strengthen scholarly communities outside the United States, work we plan to continue 
vigorously. We encourage scholars to share the fruits of their research with multiple 
audiences, from the national media to their local communities. Public engagement on 
the part of scholars—including senior faculty—is not at odds with the conduct of basic 
research. Support for scholarly engagement with the pressing issues of our time serves 
the needs of society and invigorates the academy.

B R O A D E N I N G  A C C E S S

We aim to support more scholars from across the whole spectrum of American higher 
education. Working with faculty and leaders at community colleges and other less well-
resourced institutions, we are creating new programs that provide focused grants for 
travel or startup research, support opportunities to enhance collaboration and  intellectual 
networking, and encourage innovative applications of research in the classroom. 

B U I L D I N G  C A P A C I T Y  F O R  G R E AT E R  S E R V I C E

Planning for a new century of service, ACLS is mindful of sustainability. The campaign 
is to invest in building the organizational capacity of ACLS and, by  extension, that of 
its scholarly societies. We have seen tremendous growth in programs without a 
proportionate growth in staffing, technology, and infrastructure, including fund-
raising and communications capabilities. ACLS has built trust among a range of insti-
tutional and individual networks devoted to scholarship in the humanities. To forge 
connections among them and to develop and maintain programs that connect and 
serve them, ACLS needs to have the capacity to convene, analyze, amplify, raise 
funds, and implement valued programs. This central capacity to enable the 
 infrastructure for humanistic scholarship benefits from support beyond the transient 
funds associated with particular grants.  

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O M M I T T E E

Carl H. Pforzheimer, III, Chair
Peter Baldwin
Nicola M. Courtright

Ann Fabian
William C. Kirby
Marwan M. Kraidy

James O’Donnell
Nancy J. Vickers
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S U P P O R T  T O  A C L S

$5 million+
The Andrew W. Mellon 

Foundation 
Carnegie Corporation of  

New York

$1,000,000–$4,999,999
Arcadia, a charitable fund  

of Lisbet Rausing and  
Peter Baldwin 

• Estate of Morton Norton Cohen
• Susan McClary &  

 Robert Walser

$500,000–$999,999
• Pauline Yu

$250,000–$499,999
Lilian Handlin
H. and T. King
Carl & Betty Pforzheimer
Lea Wakeman

$100,000–$249,999
Roger & Whitney Bagnall
The Barrington Foundation

• Joy Connolly
The Henry Luce Foundation
James J. O’Donnell
Susan S. and Kenneth L. 

Wallach Foundation
Scott L. Waugh
Wen-hsin Yeh & James C. Sha

$25,000–$99,999 
• Nicola M. Courtright 

 and David A. Levine
D. Ronald Daniel & Lise Scott
The Gladys Krieble Delmas 

Foundation

Frances Ferguson
Lund Trust, a charitable fund 

of Lisbet Rausing and Peter 
Baldwin

The Renée B. Fisher Foundation
Claire Gaudiani &  

David Burnett
Yvette & William Kirby
Lisbet Rausing & Peter Baldwin
Preston M. Torbert
Nancy J. Vickers
Anonymous

$10,000–$24,999 
Jim & Janet Averill
BMM Art & Computer
Chiang Ching-kuo Foundation 

for International Scholarly 
Exchange 

Jonathan D. Culler & 
Cynthia Chase

Ann Fabian & 
Christopher Smeall

Frances D. Fergusson
Ford Foundation
Valerie Wilson Travel & 

Matthew J. Gill
Charlotte V. Kuh & Roy Radner
Lavori Sterling Foundation, Inc.
The Henry Luce Foundation 

at the request of Pauline Yu
Robert S. Rifkind
Abby Smith Rumsey
Judith L. Sensibar

In honor of Beatrice Bartlett
• Estate of Richard N. Swift

James C. Turner
United Airlines
Anonymous

$5,000–$9,999 
Sheila Biddle
Elizabeth Birkelund
Donald Brenneis
Brock Capital Group
James H. Cole
Nancy F. Cott
Madeline Einhorn Glick
Nicholas R. Lardy
Monticello Associates
Matthew S. Santirocco
Gary Stonum &  

Marilyn Shea-Stonum
Robert B. Strassler

$1,000–$4,999 
Clifford C. Ando
Kwame Anthony Appiah
Ann & John Bender
Peter A. Benoliel &  

Willo Carey
Wendy Bracewell &  

Bob Shoemaker
Caroline Walker Bynum 

In honor of Pauline Yu
• Jimena Canales

Terry Castle 
Madeline H. Caviness
Indrani Chatterjee 
John R. Clarke
Lizabeth A. Cohen &  

Herrick Eaton Chapman
Stephen F. Cohen &  

Katrina vanden Heuvel 

Information as of  
June 30, 2019.

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N

Information for �scal year  
2019 (July 1, 2018–June 30, 2019). 
For current listing, see  
www.acls.org/giving.

In addition to our Annual Fund donors listed below for gifts made July 2018–June 
2019, we are especially grateful to the donors listed in bold, recognized for their 
commitments to our $125 million Centennial Campaign (July 2015–June 2019). 
Annual Fund donors are listed for gifts made July 2018-June 2019. This list 
reflects cash, stock, pledges and planned gift intentions. 

• Sustaining Donor
• 1919 Society Member 
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor

A  C E N T E N N I A L  O P P O R T U N I T Y:  
Y O U R  G I F T  W I L L  B E  M AT C H E D

The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation has awarded a challenge grant to help ACLS expand 
our donor base as we approach our 100th anniversary. The foundation will donate $1 for 
every $2 donated to ACLS, up to $4 million, until June 2022. Give online or learn more at 
www.acls.org/support_acls. 
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C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

Anne & Ronald Mellor 
Randall M. Miller
Louise Mirrer
Michele Moody-Adams 
Charles & Anne Mott
Francis Oakley
Donald Pease
Timothy Raylor &  

Vanessa Laird
Michael S. Roth
Teofilo F. Ruiz 

In honor of Pauline Yu
Richard Salomon &  

Robin Dushman
Elaine Sisman &  

Martin Steven Fridson
Carla H. Skodinski 

In memory of  
Frederick Bohen

Patricia Meyer Spacks
Randolph Starn
Andy & Amy Vaughn
Stephen H. West

• Steven Wheatley

Lisa Danzig
EisnerAmper LLP
J. Nicholas & Diane Entrikin
Judith Farquhar &  

James L. Hevia
Margaret W. Ferguson
Douglas L. Fix
George L. Gorse 

In honor of Nicola Courtright
Vartan Gregorian
Sumit Guha
Harlan Capital Partners LLC
Neil Harris
Lynn Hunt & Margaret Jacob
William Chester Jordan
Joshua T. Katz
David R. Knechtges
Marwan M. & Ute Kraidy
Naomi R. Lamoreaux
Richard Leppert
Earl Lewis
Ed Liebow & Erin Younger
John Lithgow & Mary Yeager
Herbert Mann
Susan L. Mann 

In honor of Pauline Yu
Susan A. Manning
Donald J. Mastronarde

• Melani McAlister
Mary Patterson McPherson

BMM Art & Computer
Citadel NY Inc.
EisnerAmper LLP

United Airlines
Scott L. Waugh

Jim & Janet Averill
Lisbet Rausing & Peter 

Baldwin

Monticello Associates
Carl & Betty Pforzheimer
Valerie Wilson Travel & 

Matthew J. Gill

C E N T E N N I A L  C E L E B R AT I O N  S P O N S O R S

We recognize the following donors who sponsored our April 25 Centennial Celebration.

1919  S O C I E T Y
Named for the year of our founding, the 1919 Society 
and its members celebrate ACLS’s past achievements 
and future promise as the foremost proponent for 
academic humanities in the United States. Through 
planned gift commitments made during estate 
planning, these ACLS supporters ensure that they will 
leave a lasting legacy. The 1919 Society recognizes the 
following generous donors who have included ACLS in 
their will or estate plans:

Morton Norton Cohen† & Richard N. Swift†

Joy Connolly
Nicola M. Courtright & David A. Levine
Melani McAlister 
Susan McClary & Robert Walser
Barbara A. Shailor & Harry W. Blair II
Steven Wheatley
Daniel J. Wright
Pauline Yu

† Deceased
• Sustaining Donor
• 1919 Society Member 
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor
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T H E  PA U L I N E  Y U  F E L L O W S H I P

The Pauline Yu Fellowship in Chinese or Comparative Literature was established in 2018 to honor Pauline Yu, 
who retired as president of ACLS in June 2019 after 16 years of service. Her life’s work has been to advocate for the 
humanities. Pauline served as an eloquent spokesperson for ACLS, offering a vision of reasoned thought as the 
essential basis of public life. 

During Pauline’s tenure, ACLS more than doubled the number of research fellowships it awards and tripled the dollar 
value of those awards. In addition, our endowment more than doubled in value. 

Through Pauline’s leadership, ACLS also created innovative programs reaching scholars around the world, deepened 
the public engagement of scholarship and established directions for its next century of service to the academy and 
society. ACLS’s support of Chinese studies also grew markedly: under her tenure, ACLS funded the work of more than 
400 scholars in Chinese studies.  

J. Nicholas Entrikin
Ann Fabian & Christopher 

Smeall
Margaret W. Ferguson
Claire Gaudiani & David 

Burnett
Mary & Patrick Geary
Eileen Gillooly
Madeline Einhorn Glick

• Victoria de Grazia
Michael R. Halleran
Lilian Handlin
Joshua Harlan
Harlan Capital Partners LLC
Daniel Javitch
William Chester Jordan
Joshua T. Katz
Paul W. Kroll
Charlotte V. Kuh & Roy 

Radner
Michèle Lamont
Ed Liebow & Erin Younger

John Lithgow & Mary Yeager
Esther Mackintosh
Teresa Mangum
Herbert Mann
Richard McCoy &  

Marsha Wagner
Mary Patterson McPherson
Louise Mirrer
Charles H. Mott
Donald J. Munro
James A.R. Nafziger
Lawrence Nees
Severine Neff
James J. O’Donnell
David W. Oxtoby
Carl & Betty Pforzheimer
David Pong
Henry S. Richardson
Robert S. Rifkind
Teofilo F. Ruiz
Charles Sanft
Kay Kaufman Shelemay

Elaine R. Sisman &  
Martin Steven Fridson

Catharine R. Stimpson
Jean Strouse
Stephen Stuempfle
Andrew & Amy Vaughn
Nancy J. Vickers
Susan S. and Kenneth L. 

Wallach Foundation
Lea Wakeman
Scott L. Waugh
Susan Forscher Weiss
Stephen H. West

•  Steven Wheatley
Timothy & Elizabeth Wong
Robin D.S. Yates
David Zarefsky
Madeleine H. Zelin
Anonymous (3)

Barbara K. Altmann
Lisbet Rausing & Peter 

Baldwin
Shahzad Bashir
Ann & John Bender
Lisa Berglund
Sheila Biddle
Elizabeth Birkelund
Peter K. Bol
Allan M. Brandt
Donald Brenneis
Brock Capital Group
Susan H. Bush
Caroline Walker Bynum

• Jimena Canales
Madeline H. Caviness
Eva Shan Chou
John R. Clarke
James H. Cole
Nicola Di Cosmo

• Nicola M. Courtright
Andrew Delbanco
Sarah & Ben Elman

T H E  P A U L I N E  Y U  F E L L O W S H I P  D O N O R S

• Sustaining Donor
• Member of 1919 Society
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DONOR SPOTLIG HT:  

BARBAR A SHAILOR AND HARRY BL AIR

Among our most loyal donors are ACLS fellows Barbara Shailor 
and Harry Blair, who made their first gift to ACLS 20 years ago, in 
September 1999. Twenty-three years earlier, Barbara received a 
Grant-in-Aid for her work The Scriptorum of San Pedro de Cardeña
while an assistant professor at Bucknell University, where she 
worked from 1975 to 1996. Following subsequent successful tenures 
at Rutgers University, followed by Yale University, where she served 
as director of the Beinecke Rare Book and Manuscript Library, 
Barbara remained connected to ACLS through her leadership of the 
Bibliographical Society of America, a member society. Barbara’s 
husband, Harry W. Blair, now also at Yale, received a Grant for South 
Asian Studies for his book The Election Process and Socio-economic 
Determinants in Bihar in 1973, while assistant professor at Bucknell. 
We are grateful for their generosity and commitment to ACLS. 

Katie Winter
• Daniel L. Smail

Ruth A. Solie
Catharine R. Stimpson
Timothy N. Tackett
Troy-De Wit Family 

Charitable Fund
Winokur Family Foundation

• Daniel J. Wright 
  In memory of  

Fred Burkhardt
David Zarefsky
Madeleine Zelin
Theodore Ziolkowski

$250–$499 
Elizabeth Allen
Virginia DeJohn Anderson
Keith Baker & Jennifer Paley
Joseph W. Ball
Richard M. Barnhart
Charles R. Beitz
Karol & Anna Maria Berger 

In memory of  
Anthony Newcomb

Michelle Bigenho
Renate Blumenfeld-Kosinski
Amy Borovoy 
Joseph Bosco
Betsy A. Bowden
Richard V. Buel Jr.
Jane Burkhardt
Rebecca W. Bushnell
Robert E. Buswell
Sara A. Butler
David N. Cannadine
Mary J. Carruthers

Christopher S. Celenza
Joseph Cerny
Stanley Chodorow
Ellen Wright Clayton

• Jay Clayton
John Clendenning
Rita Copeland
Steven Crowell
Jane E. Dailey
David & Lori Damrosch

• Victoria de Grazia
• Cristina Della Coletta

Dennis C. Dickerson
Margaret Anne Doody
Richard S. Dunn
John W. Eadie
Connie C. Eble
Richard H. & Carol Ekman

• Edward L. Farmer
Edward Finegan
Peter G. Fish
Mary O. Furner
Julia Haig Gaisser
Bryan Gilliam
Christina M. Gillis
Jan E. Goldstein

• Noah D. Guynn
John Hammer
Kathryn Hansen &  

Carla Petievich
Patricia A. Herminghouse
Dorothy L. Hodgson

Kathleen Woodward
Chun-Fang Yu

$500–$999 
Hans Aarsleff

• Eugenia Afinoguénova
Donald H. Akenson
Jean M. Allman
Bernard Bailyn
Don H. Bialostosky
Peter K. Bol
Peter P. Brooks
Elizabeth A.R. &  

Ralph S. Brown Jr. 
 In honor of Stanley Katz

Susan H. Bush
Charles D. Cashdollar
Scott E. Casper
Eva Shan Chou
Citadel NY Inc.
Sherman Cochran
Kathryn J. Crecelius
Robert Joe Cutter
Allen F. Davis
Mark Elliott
Benjamin & Sarah Elman

• Grace S. Fong
Benjamin & Sarah Elman
John Burt Foster Jr.
Stephen W. Foster
Mary & Patrick Geary
Eileen Gillooly
Henry Glassie &  

Pravina Shukla
Walter A. Goffart
Edward G. Gray

Tom & Ruth Green
Carol J. Greenhouse
Ariela J. Gross
James Grossman

• James F. Harris
Robert Mason Hauser & 

Joshua Matthew Hauser 
  In memory of  

Taissa S. Hauser
Elizabeth Helsinger
Martha Howell
Peter William Hylton
Herbert A. Johnson
Robert Emmet Kennedy
Sally Kitch
Paula Krebs
Amy Bridges Kronick & 

Richard Kronick
David Lightfoot
Carla Lord
Sharon Marcus
Jo Burr Margadant
Michael S. McPherson
Mia M. Mochizuki
Josiah Ober
Jessie Ann Owens
Joan R. Piggott
Kenneth Pomeranz
Richard J. Powell
Michael C.J. Putnam
Arnold Rampersad
Martha T. Roth
Stephanie Sandler
Joseph Schallert
W. Ronald Schuchard
Judith R. Shapiro
James Shulman &  

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

• Sustaining Donor
• 1919 Society Member 
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor

“The grants from ACLS gave us the extra financial 
support for research abroad, in Europe and in 

India, and helped to launch our academic  
careers as young scholars.”

—Barbara Shailor and Harry Blair—
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Toni Vogel Carey
• Annemarie Weyl Carr

William C. Carroll
John T. Casteen III
Pradyumna S. Chauhan
Linsun Cheng
Andrew Chignell
Suzannah Clark
S. Hollis Clayson
Frank M. Clover
Jeffrey J. Cohen
Miriam Cohen
Paul E. Cohen
Margaret Conkey
Tom & Verena Conley
Georgeta Stoian Connor
W. Robert Connor
Harold J. Cook
Brian Cooney
Mary Jean Corbett
William J. Courtenay
David T. Courtwright
Christopher W. Crenner
Charles Dempsey & 

Elizabeth Cropper
• John E. Crowley

Stephen B. Cushman
Mary Rose D'Angelo
Denise Z. Davidson
Wietse de Boer
Judith W. DeCew
Margaret DeLacy
Andrew Delbanco
Christine A. Desan
Nicola di Cosmo
Joshua Foa Dienstag
Jualynne E. Dodson
Alice A. Donohue
J. Michael Dunn
Stephen L. Dyson
Margaret J. Ehrhart
Dale F. Eickelman

• Dyan H. Elliott
• Maud Ellmann

David L. Eng
Nan C. Enstad
Paul J. Erickson
Harry B. Evans Jr.
Lubov Fajfer
Jared Farmer
Diane G. Favro 

In memory of Spiro Kostof
Amy Ferrer
Stanley E. Fish
Stephen Fix
Kate Flint
Helene P. Foley
Sibelan E.S. Forrester
Eckart Forster
Stephen Foster
Candace Frede
Alain Frogley
Michael A. Fuller
Alison Futrell
John M. Fyler
Ziva Galili

Paola Gambarota
Marjorie Garber
Elaine K. Gazda
Neal C. Gillespie
Brendan S. Gillon
Hazel Gold
Seth R. Graebner
William S. Graebner

• Bruce Grant
Lindsay N. Green-Barber
Samuel Greengus
Amy Greenstadt
Justina W. Gregory
Erich Gruen
Zsuzsanna Gulacsi
Anil K. & Mukta Jain Gupta
Matthew Gutmann
Myron P. Gutmann
J.R. Hall
Joan H. Hall
Michael R. Halleran
Paul R. Hanson
Lee Haring
Susan A. Harvey
Jane Hathaway
Beverly Haviland
Hayum Fund
Robert E. Hegel
John F. Heil
Diana E. Henderson
Standish Henning
James A. Henretta
Elizabeth Higginbotham
Nancy J. Hirschmann
John C. Hirsh
Paul E. Hoffman
Thomas C. Holt
David L. Howell
Joel Howell
R. Stephen Humphreys
Eric L. Hutton
Margaret Jacobs
Charles Stephen Jaeger
Bruce Janacek
Daniel Javitch
Peter Jelavich
James J. John
Elizabeth Johns
Dale R. Johnson
Marianne Kalinke
Lawrence S. Kaplan
Temma Kaplan
Peter J. Katzenstein
Thomas Keirstead
Mary C. Kelley
Kathryn Kerby-Fulton
Daniel J. Kevles
Adeeb Khalid
Dina R. Khoury

• Hillel J. Kieval
Jeffrey C. Kinkley

Frank Hole
David Johnson
Larry Eugene Jones
Joan E. Judge
Thomas Forrest Kelly
David M. Kennedy
Martin Kern
Amalia D. Kessler
Kohn Philanthropic Fund of 

the Jewish Community 
Foundation

Paul W. Kroll
Margot E. Landman
Danielle M. Macbeth
Esther Mackintosh
Lynn Mally
Elizabeth Mansfield
Charles Marks
David Marshall
William C. Martin
Richard McCoy &  

Marsha Wagner
Eugenio Menegon
Maureen C. Miller
Donald J. Munro
Norman M. Naimark
Lawrence Nees
Robert S. Nelson
Robert D. Newman
Deborah & Philip Nord
Arthur S. Nusbaum
Thomas A. O'Connor
Raymund A. Paredes
Dennis M. Patterson
Jensene Godwin Payne
Peter C. Perdue
Thomas C. Pinney
David Pong
Evelyn Sakakida Rawski
Henry S. Richardson
Mary Richter
Jonathan H. Rodgers
Anya Peterson Royce
D. Fairchild Ruggles
David C. Schaberg
Albert J. Schutz

• Barbara A. Shailor &  
 Harry W. Blair II 
David Sider
Robert C. Sleigh Jr.
Raoul Smith
Jane M. Snyder
Matthew H. Sommer
Otto Sonntag
Landon R.Y. Storrs
Winnifred Fallers Sullivan
Robert B. Townsend
Thomas R. Trautmann
Kate van Orden
Arthur Verhoogt
Joanna Waley-Cohen
Robert Weisbuch
Susan Forscher Weiss
Beth S. Wenger
Peter White

Richard J. Will
Joy D. Wiltenburg
Susan R. Wolf
Robin D.S. Yates
Judith Zeitlin & Wu Hung
Anonymous (5)

$100–$249
Robert Adams
Richard Philip Adelstein
Sungdoo Ahn
Esra Akin-Kivanc
Joel B. Altman
Barbara K. Altmann
Bruce J. Altshuler
Kenneth L. Ames
Albert Jay Ammerman
Carol Anderson
Margo J. Anderson
R. Lanier Anderson
Olavi Arens
Walter L. Arnstein
Albert Russell Ascoli
James Axtell
Egbert Bakker
James M. Banner Jr.
Leonard Barkan
Robin B. Barnes
Sandra T. Barnes
Suzanne Wilson Barnett
Shahzad Bashir
George F. Bass
Wendy A. Bellion
Paul Benacerraf
Dan & Batsheva Ben-Amos
Thomas Bender
David M. Bergeron
Ann Bermingham
Nalini Bhushan
Mario Biagioli
Allison M. Bigelow
Peter Bing
Thomas N. Bisson
Adam D. Blistein
Elizabeth Block
Patricia U. Bonomi
Beverly J. Bossler
Philip P. Boucher
Edmund A. Bowles
Frank T. Boyle

• Sandra & Gregory Bradley
Thomas A. Brady Jr. & 

Katherine G. Brady 
  In honor of  

Joseph W. Esherick
Allan M. Brandt
Michael E. Bratman
Timothy H. Breen
Erica F. Brindley
Ann & David Brownlee
Wanda Bubriski
Martin J. Camargo
William A. Camfield
Kathleen Canning
Robert S. Cantwell &  

Lydia N. Wegman

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

• Sustaining Donor
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor
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Arthur F. Marotti
John F. & 

Jeanne A. Marszalek
• Lerone A. Martin
• Laura Matthew

Ann M. McAllen
Sean J. McCann
Robert N. McCauley
John McGreevy
Elizabeth McKinsey
Sarah E. McNamer
Michael R. McVaugh
Brinda J. Mehta
Richard P. Meier
Martin Meisel
Esther M. Menn
Raymond A. Mentzer

• James H. Merrell
Tobie Meyer-Fong
Gail Minault
Carl C. Monk
Mark Morford
Wesley T. Mott
Ellen Muehlberger
Brenda Murphy
Julia Killin Murray
James A.R. Nafziger
Neeti Nair
Susan Naquin
Gary Nash
Severine Neff
Ellen G. Neskar
Barbara J. Newman
William H. Nienhauser Jr.
Margot C. Norris
William L. North & 

Victoria Morse
James H. O'Donnell

In memory of 
Ray Allen Billington

Margaret Olin
Alexander Orbach

Sherry B. Ortner
David W. Oxtoby
Laurie L. Patton 

In honor of Wendy Doniger
Robert O. Paxton
John G. Pedley
Mary Pedley
Milagros Pereyra
Louis A. Perez Jr.
Jean A. Perkins
Carla Gardina Pestana
Mark Peterson
Willard Peterson
David Popenoe
Alex Potts
Martin J. Powers
Sarah Pratt
Kenneth M. Price
Jonathan Prude
Edward A. Purcell Jr.
Ruth Anna Putnam
Mary Quinlan-McGrath
Kurt A. Raaflaub & 

Deborah Boedeker
F. Jamil Ragep

• Priti Ramamurthy
Joanne Rappaport
Wayne A. Rebhorn
Kenneth J. Reckford
Margaret W. Reynolds
Michele Richman
Velma Bourgeois Richmond
Robert C. Ritchie
Moss Roberts
Robert H. Rodgers
Matthew B. Roller
Richard H. Rouse
Joan Shelley Rubin
Catherine E. Rudder
Teemu H. Ruskola
David & Ruth Sabean
Society of Architectural 

Historians

John C. Sallis
Karen J. Sanchez-Eppler
Lucy Freeman Sandler
Charles Sanft
Jonathan D. Sarna
Shae Sawyer
Henry M. Sayre
Seth L. Schein
Wayne Schlepp
Denise Schmandt-Besserat
Glenn M. Schwartz
Sanford Schwartz
Ruth Scodel
James C. Scott
Russell & Ann Scott
Charles W. Scruggs
Bruce E. Seely
Robert M. Seltzer
Yüksel Sezgin
Barry Shank
Gary M. Shapiro
Kay Kaufman Shelemay
Shu-mei Shih
Evie Shockley
Robert D. Sider

• Alexander Silbiger
David Edward Simpson
Kathleen Warner Slane
Niall W. Slater
Laura M. Slatkin
H. Colin Slim
Carl S. Smith
J. Douglas Smith
Martha Nell Smith
Robert H. Smith Jr.
Dorothy J. Solinger
Jeffrey Sposato & 

Peter Cohen

Erec R. Koch
Kathleen Komar
Alfred S. Konefsky
Michael Kraus
Barbara Kreader & 

Gregg Skalinder
John J. Kulczycki
Shigehisa Kuriyama
John F. Kutsko
Lei Kuan Rongdao Lai
Michèle Lamont
Jane Landers
Marcia K. Landy
Jianfeng Lang
Ullrich G. Langer
Asuncion A. Lavrin

• Traugott Lawler
Benjamin N. Lawrance
Eugenia Lean
Hugh Lee
James R. Lehning
Vincent B. Leitch
Noel E. Lenski
Glenn Lesses
Lillian M. Li
Francoise Lionnet
Lawrence Lipking
Lester K. Little
Heping Liu
Timothy & Barbara Lloyd
Michèle Lowrie
Julia Reinhard Lupton
Richard J. Lynn
Melissa A. Macauley

• Ruth MacKay
Stephen R. MacKinnon
John E. Malmstad
Robert (Jay) Malone
Peter Mancall
Teresa Mangum
Maeva Marcus
Charles E. Marks

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

DONOR SPOTLIGHT: HERBERT JOHNSON

Herbert A. Johnson, legal historian and distinguished professor emeritus of law at the 
University of South Carolina, has been a steadfast supporter of ACLS since 1999. Active 
in the leadership of the American Society for Legal History (ASLH) in the 1970s, Johnson 
participated in annual ACLS meetings for the executive secretaries of learned societies 
and served as the ASLH’s delegate to the ACLS.  This broadened his appreciation of our 
formative role as a coordinator of, and advocate for, humanistic learning, and our 
centrality in working for the expansion and enhancement of scholarship at both at the 
interdisciplinary and the international levels. As a recipient of an ACLS Fellowship in 
1974–1975 to support his work on the Supreme Court under Chief Justice John Marshall, 
Johnson said he cannot emphasize enough the difference his fellowship made to the 
trajectory of his career. He has given to ACLS so consistently because he believes that 
contributions like his “are the lifeblood” of an organization that supports critically 
important scholarship.  

• Sustaining Donor
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor
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Patricia Waddy
Susan Snow Wadley
Ann Prentice Wagner
R. Jay Wallace
Meiqin Wang
Allen M. Ward Jr.
Michelle R. Warren
Rosanna Warren
Robert W. Wason
Theodore R. Weeks

• Rudolph H. Weingartner
Judith Weisenfeld
Ellen R. Welch
John P. Welle
Marilyn J. Westerkamp

• Winthrop Wetherbee
Lynn White
Ellen B. Widmer
Karen E. Wigen
Matthew H. Wikander
Robert C. Williams
F. Roy Willis
Don B. Wilmeth
Brenda Wineapple
Christoph Wolff
Isser Woloch
Timothy & Elizabeth Wong
Robert L. Woods
Edward N. Wright-Rios
Jiang Wu
Marilyn Yalom
Yunxiang Yan
Stuart H. Young
Emilia A. Zankina

Lawrence Zbikowski & 
Victoria Long

Larzer Ziff
Eleonore M. Zimmermann
Anonymous (19)

Up to $100 
Benjamin Abraham
Karen R. Achberger
James S. Amelang
Meghan C. Andrews
James M. Baker
Janet L. Beizer
Brooke Belisle
Janis C. Bell
Lisa Berglund
Michael H. Bernhard

• Galen Brokaw
Victor H. Brombert
Alison Spence Brooks
Marilyn R. Brown
Chelsea Burns
Joseph Cady
Walter B. Cahn
Mary Baine Campbell
Dominic J. Capeci Jr.
Peter Boysen
Inta Gale Carpenter
John Carson
Whitney Chadwick
Linda H. Chance
Stuart Charmé
David E. Chinitz
Matthew R. Christ

Matthew J. Christensen
Petra ten-Doesschate Chu
Michael R. Clapper
Albert Cohen
Lucia H. S. Costigan
Shannon C. Cram
James Cruise
Rebecca J. Cruise
Stuart Curran
John W. Dardess
Judith F. Davidov
Anthony DeBlasi
Rosanna Dent
Sarah J. Deutsch
Wai Chee Dimock
Linda J. Docherty
Linda A. Downs
Laura A. Doyle
Alexis Dudden
Leslie E. Eisenberg
Loubna El Amine
Maria deJ. Ellis &  

Richard S. Ellis
Victoria R. Farmer
Karen E. Fields
Jaroslav T. Folda III
Lee Formwalt
Ellery Elisabeth Foutch
Richard Freedman

Paolo Squatriti
Peter Stansky
Orin Starn
Raymond J. Starr
Gregory S. Starrett
Marc W. Steinberg
Lynn M. Stephen
Josef J. Stern
Matthew W. Stolper
M. Alison Stones
Patricia Stranahan
Jean Strouse
Susan M. Stuard
Peter C. Sturman
James Swenson
Kenneth M. Swope
Richard J.A. Talbert
Nathan Tarcov
Timothy D. Taylor
Richard F. Teichgraeber
Heidi E. Tinsman
Lynne Tirrell
Clifford E. Trafzer
Elizabeth C. Traugott
Francesca Trivellato

• Paul Tucker
James Grantham Turner
Richard M. Valelly
Deborah M. Valenze
Marc Van De Mieroop
Richard L. Velkley
Helen H. Vendler
Luanne von Schneidemesser
David William Voorhees

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

NEW FELLOWSHIP: 

THE H. AND T. KING FELLOWSHIP  
IN PRE- COLUMBIAN ART HISTORY

As a result of the ACLS Centennial Campaign, the number of 
fellowships we offer each year has increased. We are pleased  
that the H. and T. King Fellowship in Pre-Columbian Art History 
has been established. ACLS King Fellowships will support scholars 
whose research contributes to the understanding of art and its 
history in Pre-Columbian cultures of Latin America. As Pauline Yu 
said in 2019, “We are enormously grateful to the King family for 
this generous contribution, which represents a new area for ACLS. 
We hope that this fellowship will foster new scholarship in the 
field.” The field of study is capaciously understood to include 
material culture and architecture prior to European encounters, 
epigraphy historical and documentary accounts, and 
ethnographic study that aids in our understanding of the  
visual culture of the period. 

• Sustaining Donor
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor

“Working for more than 30 years with one of the 
great collections of Pre-Columbian art at the 

Metropolitan Museum of Art made me aware of 
the need for continued advanced research of the 

ancient indigenous peoples in the Americas in 
order to understand their remarkable 
accomplishments in the visual arts.” 

—Heidi King—
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 Yannik Thiem
Tamara Ketabgian
Alexander Keyssar
Jaklin Kornfilt
B. Robert Kreiser
Thomas J. Kuehn
Ned Landsman
Thomas Lekan
Guotong Li
Harry B. Lincoln
Mason I. Lowance Jr.
Joanne M. Lukitsh
Michael R. Maas
Preetha Mani
Kristin Mann
Peter J. Manning
Nicole Marafioti &  

Michael Simons
Richard E. Matlak
Kristine McCusker
Jeff McMahan
Emanuel J. Mickel
Gretchen Mieszkowski
Flagg Miller
Nelson H. Minnich
Anne McGee Morganstern
Caitlin E. Murdock
Kristen Olson Murtaugh
George Dennis O'Brien

Michael S. Roth
Seth L. Schein
Ruth Scodel
Ann & Russell T. Scott
Niall W. Slater
David Sider
Laura M. Slatkin
Peter Stansky
Robert B. Strassler
Timothy D. Taylor
James Grantham Turner
Helen H. Vendler
Allen M. Ward
Robert Weisbuch
Christoph Wolff

Oscar Handlin Fellowship  
in American History

Bernard Bailyn
Jane E. Dailey
Dennis C. Dickerson
Richard & Carol Ekman
Lee W. Formwalt
Lilian Handlin
Lawrence A. Joseph
Randall M. Miller
Carl H. Pforzheimer III
Robert O. Preyer
Jonathan D. Sarna
Robert B. Strassler

Ben T. Ohtsu
Joseph M. Ortiz
Lynda Park
Kathy Peiss
David Pietz
Hans A. Pohlsander
Janet L. Polasky
Robert O. Preyer
Karen A. Rader
Jill Raitt
Shelley Rigger
Charles & Carol Rosenberg
Sophia A. Rosenfeld
Nathan S. Rosenstein
Charles L. Ross
John Rury
Joel Alan Sachs
David Harris Sacks
David E. Schneider
Craig R. Scott
Peter J. Scotto
Michael Seidman
Laurence Philip Senelick
Azade Seyhan
Richard C. Sha
Naoko Shibusawa
Robert L. Simon
Daniel Jordan Smith
Timothy D. Snyder

Steven Wheatley Fund
• Sandra & Gregory Bradley

Amy Ferrer
Lee W. Formwalt
Candace Frede
Lee Haring
Gerard A. Hauser
Warren Hoffman
Barbara Kreader & Gregg 

Skalinder
Paula Krebs
Charlotte V. Kuh & Roy Radner
Henry Luce Foundation at the 

request of Pauline Yu
Robert (Jay) Malone
James A.R. Nafziger
Lynda Park
Margaret W. Reynolds
Jonathan H. Rodgers
Robert B. Townsend
Andrew & Amy Vaughn

• Steven Wheatley
• Pauline Yu

Benjamin D. Sommer
Diana Sorensen
Jenni Sorkin
Carol A. Stabile
Adam Steinberg
David M. Stern
Damie Stillman
Stephen Stuempfle
Timothy Tangherlini
Robert B. Toplin
Cynthia M. Truant
Mark I. Vail
Peeranut Visetsuth
Ding Xiang Warner
Nicholas J. Watson
Philip M. Weinstein
Richard Weisberg
Edward Wheatley
Martha Heath Wiencke
Douglas L. Wilson
Lesley A. Wright
Shaohua Zhan
Tianxiao Zhu
Anonymous (12)

Frederic E. Wakeman, Jr. 
Fellowship Fund

John W. Dardess
Paul R. Hanson
Lillian M. Li
Richard J. Lynn
Melissa A. Macauley
Stephen R. MacKinnon
Susan Naquin
Ellen G. Neskar
Martin J. Powers
Moss Roberts
Peter Stansky
Kenneth M. Swope
Lea Wakeman
Lynn T. White
Jiang Wu
Anonymous (5)

Aaron A. Gerow
Christopher Gibbs
Vinay Gidwani
Jeanette Goddard
David Theo Goldberg
Harvey J. Graff
Cheryl Greenberg
Beatrice Gurwitz

• Amy Hahn
Michael Hames-Garcia
Gerard A. Hauser
John Hay

• Kathleen Heins &  
 Peter Watson
Jennifer A. Herdt
Matthew Howard Hersch
Warren Hoffman
Robert C. Howell
Ronald Kind Huch
Faisal Husain
Janet H. Johnson &  

Donald Whitcomb
Lawrence A. Joseph
Alexa Alice Joubin
Amy K. Kaminsky
Erin Joyce Kappeler
Zayn Kassam
Suzanne Kaufman

• Rebecca Kennison &  

John H. D’Arms Fund 
Bruce Altshuler
Nalini Bhushan
Adam D. Blistein
Joseph Cerny
John R. Clarke
John E. Crowley
Richard S. Dunn
Dale F. Eickelman
Julia Haig Gaisser
Elaine K. Gazda
Madeline Einhorn Glick

• Victoria de Grazia
Tom & Ruth Green
Thomas C. Holt
James J. John
Hugh M. Lee
Lawrence Lipking
Lester K. Little 
Herbert Mann
Donald J. Mastronarde
Mary Patterson McPherson
Anne & Ronald Mellor
Nelson H. Minnich
Francis Oakley
Sherry B. Ortner
Laurie L. Patton
John G. Pedley
Mary Pedley
Michael C.J. Putnam
Robert S. Rifkind

C E N T E N N I A L  C A M P A I G N  C O N T I N U E D

D O N O R S  T O  N A M E D  F U N D S

• Sustaining Donor
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor

• Sustaining Donor
• 1919 Society Member 
Bold = Centennial 
Campaign donor
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F E L L O W S  A N D  G R A N T E E S

S E L E C T I O N  C O M M I T T E E S 
F O R  F E L L O W S H I P  A N D  G R A N T 
C O M P E T I T I O N S
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A C L S  D I G I T A L  E X T E N S I O N  G R A N T E E S
JOY CASTRO, Professor, English and Ethnic Studies, University of Nebraska-Lincoln 
JEANNETTE EILEEN JONES, Associate Professor, History and Ethnic Studies, University of Nebraska-
Lincoln 
KENNETH M. PRICE, Professor, English, University of Nebraska-Lincoln 
WILLIAM G. THOMAS, Professor, History, University of Nebraska-Lincoln 
New Storytellers: The Research Institute in Digital Ethnic Studies, Developing Racial, Ethnic, and 
Cultural Diversity in the Next Generation of Digital Scholars

TANYA CLEMENT, Associate Professor, English, University of Texas at Austin 
The AudiAnnotate Project

KELLEY CONWAY, Professor, Communication Arts, University of Wisconsin-Madison 
ERIC HOYT, Associate Professor, Communication Arts, University of Wisconsin-Madison  
Globalizing and Enhancing the Media History Digital Library

BRADLEY DILGER, Associate Professor, English, Purdue University 
SHELLEY STAPLES, Associate Professor, English, University of Arizona 
Expanding the Corpus and Repository of Writing: An Archive of Multilingual Writing in English

XOCHITL FLORES-MARCIAL, Assistant Professor, Chicana/o Studies, California State University, 
Northridge 
BROOK DANIELLE LILLEHAUGEN, Assistant Professor, Linguistics, Haverford College 
FELIPE H. LOPEZ, Independent Scholar 
MICHAEL ZARAFONETIS, Coordinator, Magill Library, Haverford College 
Ticha: Advancing Community-Engaged Digital Scholarship

A C L S  F E L L O W S H I P S
FRANCESCA RUSSELLO AMMON, Assistant Professor, City & Regional Planning, and Historic 
Preservation, University of Pennsylvania 
Preserving the City: Urban Renewal and Restoration in Society Hill, Philadelphia

ADRIAN ANAGNOST, Assistant Professor, Art, Tulane University 
Organic Architectures

KEVIN B. ANDERSON, Professor, Sociology, Political Science, and Feminist Studies, University of 
California, Santa Barbara 
Mapping the Late Marx: On Colonialism, Gender, Development, and Multilinear Concepts of Revolution

LAURIE ARNOLD, Associate Professor, History, Gonzaga University 
Native American Cultural Activism as Historical Text: From Sarah Winnemucca to Twenty-First Century 
Drama

YURY P. AVVAKUMOV, Associate Professor, Theology, University of Notre Dame 
Ukrainians, Russians, and the Holy See, 1900-1939: Metropolitan Sheptytsky’s “Orthodox Catholic” 
Project and Its Post-Confessional Challenge

ANTHONY BARBIERI-LOW, Professor, History, University of California, Santa Barbara 
The Black Land and the Middle Kingdom: Comparative Perspectives on Ancient Egypt and Early China 
Professor Barbieri-Low has been designated an ACLS/Yvette and William Kirby Centennial Fellow.

JANINE G. BARCHAS, Professor, English, University of Texas at Austin 
Renting in the Age of Austen

MARSHA E. BARRETT, Assistant Professor, History, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign 
The Decline of Centrist Politics and the Rise of the Punitive State: A Political History of Nelson Rockefeller

ERIN BEEGHLY, Assistant Professor, Philosophy, University of Utah 
What’s Wrong with Stereotyping?

SHANNA GREENE BENJAMIN, Associate Professor, English, Grinnell College 
Half in Shadow: The Life and Legacy of Nellie Y. McKay

SUSANNA BERGER, Assistant Professor, Art History, University of Southern California 
Visual Expertise and the Aesthetics of Deception in Early Modern Italy

F E L L O W S  A N D  G R A N T E E S 

Funded by  
The Andrew W. Mellon  
Foundation

Funded by the ACLS  
Fellowship Endowment
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ALLAN M. BRANDT, Professor, History of Science, and Global Health and Social Medicine, Harvard 
University
Enduring Stigma: Historical Perspectives on Disease Meanings and Their Impact

SUSAN BURCH, Professor, American Studies, Middlebury College 
Committed: Native Self-determination, Kinship, Institutionalization, and Remembering

CHRISTOPHER COLLINS, Professor, Linguistics, New York University 
The Eastern Khoisan Languages of Botswana

CATHERINE CONYBEARE, Professor, Greek, Latin, and Classical Studies, Bryn Mawr College 
Augustine the African

JAY CRISOSTOMO, Assistant Professor, Middle East Studies, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
The Social Lives of Sumerian

JOANNA DEE DAS, Assistant Professor, Performing Arts, Washington University in St. Louis 
Dancing for God and Country: Performing Politics in "A Perfect American Town"

MARLENE L. DAUT, Associate Professor, African American Studies, University of Virginia 
Awakening the Ashes: An Intellectual History of Haiti

JOSHUA FOA DIENSTAG, Professor, Political Science, University of California, Los Angeles 
The Human Boundary: Freedom, Citizenship, and Democracy in a Post-Human Age

POLINA DIMOVA, Visiting Scholar, German, Russian, and East European Studies, Vanderbilt University 
At the Crossroads of the Senses: The Synaesthetic Metaphor Across the Arts in European Modernism

LAURA F. EDWARDS, Professor, History, Duke University 
Only the Clothes on Her Back: Textiles, Law, and Commerce in the Nineteenth-Century United States

JONATHAN E. ELMER, Professor, English, Indiana University Bloomington 
Remedial Poe 
Professor Elmer has been designated an ACLS/Carl and Betty Pforzheimer Fellow.

AMY ERDMAN FARRELL, Professor, American Studies and Women's, Gender, and Sexuality Studies, 
Dickinson College 
Girl Scouts of the USA: Democracy, Sisterhood, and Empire

JULIA FAWCETT, Associate Professor, Theater, Dance, and Performance Studies, University of 
California, Berkeley 
Unmapping London: Performance and Urbanization after the Great Fire of 1666

AMANDA H. FROST, Professor, Law, American University 
Unmaking Americans: A History of Citizenship Stripping in the United States

MATTHEW JOHN GARCIA, Professor, Latin American and Latinx Studies, and History, Dartmouth College 
Eli and the Octopus: The Man Who Failed to Tame United Fruit Company

VALENTINA N. GLAJAR, Professor, Modern Languages, Texas State University, San Marcos 
The Afterlife of Files: Herta Müller's Story of Surveillance

ANDREA S. GOLDMAN, Associate Professor, History, University of California, Los Angeles 
The Frenchman and the Chinese Opera: Imperialism, Homoeroticism, and Transnational Masculinities 
in China, 1900–1950 
Professor Goldman has been designated a Frederic E. Wakeman, Jr./ACLS Fellow.

ISABEL CHERISE GÓMEZ, Assistant Professor, Latin American and Iberian Studies, University of 
Massachusetts Boston 
Cannibal Translation: Literary Reciprocity in Contemporary Latin America

CAM GREY, Associate Professor, Classical Studies, University of Pennsylvania 
Living with Risk in the Late Roman World

CHRISTOPHER HAGER, Associate Professor, English, Trinity College (CT) 
Illiterate: An American History

AMY A. HASINOFF, Associate Professor, Communication, University of Colorado Denver 
The Traffic in Images of Women: Revenge Porn and Shared Accountability for Online Harm

MATTHEW S. HEDSTROM, Associate Professor, Religious Studies and American Studies, University 
of Virginia 
The Religion of Humanity: Spiritual Cosmopolitanism, Politics, and the United Nations
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JAMES HEINZEN, Professor, History, Rowan University
Underground Entrepreneurs and the Soviet Shadow Economy under Late Socialism, 1950s–1980s

ANNA HENCHMAN, Associate Professor, English, Boston University 
Tiny Creatures and the Boundaries of Being in the Nineteenth-Century British Imagination

ISABEL HUACUJA ALONSO, Assistant Professor, History, California State University, San Bernardino 
Radio for the Millions: Hindi-Urdu Broadcasting and the Politics of Sound in Modern South Asia

CALVIN HUI, Assistant Professor, Modern Languages and Literatures, College of William & Mary 
Useless: Fashion, Media, and Consumer Culture in Contemporary China

JENNIFER JAHNER, Assistant Professor, English, California Institute of Technology 
The Medieval Experimental Imagination: Scientific and Literary Method in Later Medieval England

RICHARD JANKO, Professor, Classical Studies, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
The Derveni Papyrus: A New Edition with Introduction, Text, Translation, and Commentary 
Professor Janko has been designated an ACLS/Barrington Foundation Centennial Fellow.

KATIE L. JARVIS, Assistant Professor, History, University of Notre Dame 
Democratizing Forgiveness: Reconciling Citizens in Revolutionary France

JEANNETTE EILEEN JONES, Associate Professor, History and Ethnic Studies, University of Nebraska-
Lincoln 
America in Africa: US Empire, Race, and the African Question, 1821–1919

HILARY FALB KALISMAN, Assistant Professor, History and Jewish Studies, University of Colorado Boulder 
Standardized Testing: An Imperial Legacy of the Modern Middle East

IPPOLYTOS ANDREAS KALOFONOS, Assistant Professor, Psychiatry, University of California, Los Angeles 
“All I Eat Is ARVs”: Surviving the AIDS Economy in Central Mozambique

CATHERINE M. KEARNS, Assistant Professor, Classics, University of Chicago 
Unruly Landscapes: Environment and Society on Ancient Cyprus

GRETA L. LaFLEUR, Assistant Professor, American Studies, Yale University 
A Queer History of Sexual Violence

PRIYA LAL, Associate Professor, History, Boston College 
Human Resources: Professional Labor and Nation Building in Southeastern Africa

MELINDA LATOUR, Assistant Professor, Music, Tufts University 
The Voice of Virtue: Moral Song in Late Renaissance France, 1574–1652

KEITH D. LEONARD, Associate Professor, Literature, American University 
Black Avant-Gardism

JAMES S. LEVE, Professor, Music, Northern Arizona University 
Disability Musical Theater: Dramaturgy, Performance, Accommodation, and Access

DARRYL LI, Assistant Professor, Anthropology, University of Chicago 
The Universal Enemy: Jihad, Empire, and the Challenge of Solidarity

MARC MATERA, Associate Professor, History, University of California, Santa Cruz 
The African Grounds of Race Relations in Britain

NDUBUEZE L. MBAH, Assistant Professor, History, University at Buffalo, State University of New York 
Rebellious Migrants: Forging Cosmopolitan Identity and Postcolonial Spaces in the Bight of Biafra, 1840–1960 
Professor Mbah has been designated an ACLS Centennial Fellow in the Dynamics of Place.

JULIE A. MINICH, Associate Professor, English and Mexican American & Latina/o Studies, University 
of Texas at Austin 
Health, Justice, and Latina/o/x Expressive Culture

ADA PALMER, Associate Professor, History, University of Chicago 
Why People Censor, from the Inquisition to the Internet

NANDINI B. PANDEY, Associate Professor, Classical and Ancient Near Eastern Studies, University of 
Wisconsin–Madison 
Diversity and Difference in Imperial Rome

SUN-YOUNG PARK, Assistant Professor, History and Art History, George Mason University 
The Architecture of Disability in Modern France
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GERARD PASSANNANTE, Associate Professor, English and Comparative Literature, University of 
Maryland, College Park
God is in the Detail: Cosmic Order and the Sense of Scale

NATHALIE M. PEUTZ, Assistant Professor, Arab Crossroads Studies, New York University Abu Dhabi 
Gate of Tears: Migration and Impasse in Yemen and the Horn of Africa

ANNE POLLOCK, Professor, Global Health and Social Medicine, King's College London 
Race and Biopolitics in the Twenty-first Century

EMILY REMUS, Assistant Professor, History, University of Notre Dame 
Charge It: Women, Credit, and the Making of Modern America

JENNIFER RHEE, Associate Professor, English, Virginia Commonwealth University 
Counting: Cultures of Measurement, Quantification, and Surveillance

SARA RITCHEY, Associate Professor, History, University of Tennessee, Knoxville 
Communities of Care: Women, Healing, and Prayer in the Late Medieval Lowlands

KATHRYN SUSAN ROBERTS, Assistant Professor, American Studies, Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, 
Netherlands 
The New Monastics: Creative Community and Literary Form

JOSHUA D. ROTHMAN, Professor, History, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa 
The Ledger and the Chain: A Biography of the Domestic Slave Trade

BRITT RUSERT, Associate Professor, Afro-American Studies, University of Massachusetts Amherst 
The Afric-American Picture Gallery: Imagining Black Art, circa 1859

RASHMI SADANA, Associate Professor, Sociology and Anthropology, George Mason University 
Gender, Urban Space, and Everyday Life in the Age of the Delhi Metro, 2002–2018

JOEL ALDEN SCHLOSSER, Assistant Professor, Political Science, Bryn Mawr College 
Refusing Mere Existence: Philosophical Asceticism and the Politics of Refusal

ERIK RATTAZZI SCOTT, Associate Professor, History, University of Kansas 
Soviet Defectors and the Borders of the Cold War World

SAMANTHA KATZ SEAL, Assistant Professor, English, University of New Hampshire 
Chaucerian Dynasty: The Father of English Poetry and His Family

W. ANTHONY SHEPPARD, Professor, Music, Williams College 
The Performer's Voice: Timbre and Expression in Twentieth-Century Vocal Music 
Professor Sheppard has been designated a McClary-Walser/ACLS Fellow.

SATOKO SHIMAZAKI, Associate Professor, East Asian Languages and Cultures, University of 
Southern California 
Kabuki Actors, Print Technology, and the Theatrical Origins of Modern Media

HEATHER STREETS-SALTER, Professor, History, Northeastern University 
The Chill Before the Cold War: The Noulens Affair and the Global Struggle Between Communism and 
Anti-Communism in the Interwar Period

XIAOFEI TIAN, Professor, East Asian Languages and Civilizations, Harvard University 
Writing Empire and Self: Cultural Transformation in Early Medieval China 
Professor Tian has been designated an ACLS/Donald J. Munro Centennial Fellow.

KATHERINE UNTERMAN, Associate Professor, History, Texas A&M University 
The Colonial Constitution: Law and Empire in the US Territories

DON EDWARD WALICEK, Professor, English and Linguistics, University of Puerto Rico, Rio Piedras 
Speaking ‘American’ in Samaná: Migration, Freedom, and Belonging

KEREN WEITZBERG, Teaching Fellow, History, University College London 
Marketized Identities: A History of ID Cards, Registration, and Biometrics in Kenya

KIMBERLY WELCH, Assistant Professor, History and Law, Vanderbilt University 
Lending and Borrowing Across the Color Line in the Antebellum American South 
Professor Welch has been designated an Oscar Handlin/ACLS Fellow.

CLAIRE WENDLAND, Professor, Anthropology and Obstetrics & Gynecology, University of 
Wisconsin-Madison 
Partial Stories: Maternal Death in a Changing African World
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ASHLI WHITE, Associate Professor, History, University of Miami
Revolutionary Things

MICHAEL E. WOODS, Associate Professor, History, Marshall University 
The Business of Bigotry: John Van Evrie and the Rise of a Racist Publishing Empire

MARCIA YONEMOTO, Professor, History, University of Colorado Boulder 
The Ties that Bind: Adult Adoption and Family Formation in Japan, 1700–1925

C O M P A R A T I V E  P E R S P E C T I V E S  O N  C H I N E S E  C U L T U R E  
A N D  S O C I E T Y  G R A N T S
ARIEL FOX, Assistant Professor, East Asian Languages and Civilizations, University of Chicago
Silk Road Imaginaries

PHILIP JOHN IVANHOE, Professor, Public Policy, Sungkyunkwan University, South Korea 
International Conference on Confucianism, Buddhism, and Kantian Moral Theory 

JUDD CREIGHTON KINZLEY, Associate Professor, History, University of Wisconsin-Madison 
Uneasy Allies: Sino-American Relations at the Grassroots, 1941 to 1949

CHING KWAN LEE, Professor, Sociology, University of California, Los Angeles 
Global China in Comparative Perspectives 

DAWN ODELL, Associate Professor, Art History, Lewis & Clark College 
Art Between China, Europe, and the United States Researching the Van Braam Collection of Chinese Art

HAUN SAUSSY, Professor, Comparative Literature, University of Chicago 
Literary Culture Across Eurasia: China and Beyond 

F R E D E R I C K  B U R K H A R D T  R E S I D E N T I A L  F E L L O W S H I P S  F O R 
R E C E N T L Y  T E N U R E D  S C H O L A R S
BRYAN ALKEMEYER, Associate Professor, English, College of Wooster 
Before the Primates: Metamorphoses, Miscegenation, and Speciesism, 1550–1750

MICHAEL S. BROWNSTEIN, Associate Professor, Philosophy, City University of New York, John Jay College 
Detribalizing Epistemology

TAMARA T. CHIN, Associate Professor, Comparative Literature and East Asian Studies, Brown 
University 
The Silk Road Idea

PAUL C. DILLEY, Associate Professor, Religious Studies and Classics, University of Iowa 
The Monastic Transformation of Graeco-Roman Popular Theater: A Corpus and Theory of Ancient 
Christian Comedy

CHRISTOPHER A. GROBE, Associate Professor, English, Amherst College 
Imitation Games: Actors, Robots, and the Art of Seeming Human

Daniel Hershenzon, Associate Professor, Literatures, Cultures, and Languages, University of Connecticut 
Captive Objects: Religious Artifacts, Piracy, and Slavery in the Early Modern Mediterranean

BRENDAN LANCTOT, Associate Professor, Hispanic Studies, University of Puget Sound 
Specters of the Popular in Nineteenth-Century Latin American Visual Culture

LITAL LEVY, Associate Professor, Comparative Literature, Princeton University 
Global Haskalah: Jewish Cultural Modernity, Translation, and World Literature

KRISTINA I. MEDINA VILARIÑO, Associate Professor, Spanish, Saint Olaf College 
Narratives of Life: A Post-Maria Intervention in Colonial Puerto Rico

MCKINLEY ERIC MELTON, Associate Professor, English, Gettysburg College 
Claiming All the World as Our Stage: Contemporary Black Poetry, Performance, and Resistance

GREGORY C. MITCHELL, Associate Professor, Women's, Gender and Sexuality Studies, Williams College 
40,000 Missing Girls: Moral Panics, Global Sporting Events, and the Spectacle of Sex Trafficking
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EVA MROCZEK, Associate Professor, Religious Studies, University of California, Davis
Out of the Cave: The Possibility of a New Scriptural Past

JENNIFER CHRISTINE NASH, Associate Professor, African American Studies, and Gender and 
Sexuality Studies, Northwestern University 
Black Maternal Politics

THUY LINH NGUYEN, Associate Professor, Social Sciences, Mount Saint Mary College, NY 
The Coal Mines of Vietnam: Mining, Landscape and Society, 1858–1954

ANA PAULINA OCHOA ESPEJO, Associate Professor, Political Science, Haverford College 
Rights of Place: Territory, Property, and Jurisdiction in the Americas

ABAYOMI OLA, Associate Professor, Art and Visual Culture, Spelman College 
Lines of Dissent in Anglophone West Africa, 1950–1970

BRUNO PERREAU, Associate Professor, Global Studies and Languages, Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology 
Minority Democracy

JULIETTA C. SINGH, Associate Professor, English and Women's, Gender and Sexuality Studies, 
University of Richmond 
On the Verge: Experiments in Extinction

EMILY E. LB. TWAROG, Associate Professor, Labor and Employment Relations, University of Illinois 
at Urbana-Champaign 
Hands Off: A History of Sexual Harassment Resistance in the Service Sector, 1935–2018

CHRISTOPHER VAN DEN BERG, Associate Professor, Classics, Amherst College 
Critical Matter: Performance, Identity, and Object in Greco-Roman Criticism

WENDY WARREN, Associate Professor, History, Princeton University 
The Carceral Colony: The Role of Prisons in the Making of America

G E T T Y  /  A C L S  P O S T D O C T O R A L  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  T H E 
H I S T O R Y  O F  A R T
ELIZABETH ANN CECIL, Assistant Professor, Religion, Florida State University 
Architectures of Intimidation: Political Ecology and Landscape Manipulation in Early Southeast Asia

KYRAH MALIKA DANIELS, Assistant Professor, Art History, and African and African Diaspora 
Studies, Boston College 
The Art that Heals: Spiritual Illness and Sacred Arts of the Black Atlantic

JACOPO GNISCI, Research Associate, Classics, University of Oxford 
Illuminated Ethiopic Gospel Books, 350–1400

HELEN ROSE HUGHES, Lecturer, Art, Design, and Architecture, Monash University 
Forger—Convict—Artist: The Criminalisation of Forgery and Colonial Australian Art, 1788–1868

ANGELINA LUCENTO, Assistant Professor, History and Art History, National Research University 
Higher School of Economics, Russia 
Moving the Masses: Painting and Communication from Budapest to Bishkek, 1918–1941

KELEMA LEE MOSES, Assistant Professor, Art and Art History, Occidental College 
Island Modernism/Island Urbanism: Encountering Statehood in Honolulu, Hawai'i

CLARISSA RICCI, Postdoctoral Fellow, Culture del Progetto, Università Iuav di Venezia, Italy 
Shifting Platforms: The Venice Biennale and the Formation of the Contemporary Art System

ALICE ISABELLA SULLIVAN, Lecturer, History of Art, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
Byzantium Reimagined in Moldavian Art and Architecture

STEFFEN ZIERHOLZ, Postdoctoral Fellow, Art History, Bibliotheca Hertziana, Max-Planck-Institut für 
Kunstgeschichte, Italy 
Demons, Minerals, and Media-Specificity: The Subterranean as a Productive Force in Early Modern Naples

DANIEL MICHAEL ZOLLI, Assistant Professor, Art History, Pennsylvania State University 
Donatello’s Promiscuous Technique: Experimentation and Collaboration in an Italian Renaissance Workshop
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L U C E  /  A C L S  D I S S E R T A T I O N  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  A M E R I C A N  A R T
JESSICA BARDSLEY, Doctoral Candidate, Visual and Environmental Studies, Harvard University
Fluid Materialisms in Contemporary Art, 1960s–Present

JESSICA M. DiTILLIO, Doctoral Candidate, Art and Art History, University of Texas at Austin 
After the Punchline: American Visual Parody since the 1970s as Generative Form

THERESA DOWNING, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, University of Minnesota, Twin Cities 
Traces: A Transhistorical Study of Fiber Ecologies in Contemporary Art

E. C. FEISS, Doctoral Candidate, History of Art, University of California, Berkeley 
Maximum Feasible Participation: Art in the War on Poverty, 1959–1973 
Ms. Feiss has been designated an Ellen Holtzman Fellow.

JULIA FERNANDEZ, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, Theory, and Criticism, University of California, 
San Diego 
Vanguardias Transnacionales: Reconciling the Local and the Global in Chicano Art

MAYA HARAKAWA, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, City University of New York, The Graduate 
Center 
After the Renaissance: Art and Harlem in the 1960s

SHARRISSA IQBAL, Doctoral Candidate, Visual Studies, University of California, Irvine 
Alternative Abstractions: Art and Science in Twentieth-Century Los Angeles

BRIAN T. LEAHY, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, Northwestern University 
For Immediate Release: Public Relations and Contemporary Art in the United States, 1967–1990

CYLE M. METZGER, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, Stanford University 
Deep Cuts: Art and Transgender History in the United States

TALIA BESS SHABTAY, Doctoral Candidate, Art History, Northwestern University 
Machine-Eyed Modern: Art, Science, and Visual Experience in Early Cold War America

JILLIAN B. VAUM, Doctoral Candidate, History of Art, University of Pennsylvania 
Facing Freedom: Tracing African American Emancipation in Antebellum Portraiture

L U C E  /  A C L S  P R O G R A M  I N  C H I N A  S T U D I E S
P O S T D O C T O R A L  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  C H I N A  S T U D I E S

WESLEY BYRON CHANEY, Assistant Professor, History, Bates College  
Stolen Land, Broken Bodies: Law, Environment, and Violence in Northwest China

KAIJUN CHEN, Assistant Professor, East Asian Studies, Brown University  
The Culture of Expertise in Eighteenth Century Qing China: The Imperial Porcelain Industry

LUKE HABBERSTAD, Assistant Professor, East Asian Languages and Literatures, and Religious 
Studies, University of Oregon  
Water Control and Political Culture in Early Imperial China

PETER LAVELLE, with NEH support, Assistant Professor, History, Temple University  
Unbounded Fields: Agricultural Science at the End of the Qing Empire

LE LIN, Assistant Professor, Sociology, University of Hawaii at Manoa 
Capitalism Out of the Shadow: The Emergence and Transformation of China’s Education and Training 
Industry

MEI MEI RADO, Adjunct Assistant Professor, Art and Design History and Theory, Parsons School of Design  
The Empire’s New Cloth: Western Textiles at the Eighteenth Century Qing Court

CHERYL M. SCHMITZ, with NEH support, Teaching Fellow, Global Perspectives on Society, New York 
University Shanghai 
Another Day of Work: Chinese Moneymaking in Postwar Angola

PETER DEWITT THILLY, Assistant Professor, History, University of Mississippi 
Opium and Capitalism on the Chinese Maritime Frontier
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YULIAN WU, with NEH support, Assistant Professor, History, Michigan State University
Crafting Jade: The Construction of Objects and Empire in Eighteenth-Century China

LING ZHANG, Assistant Professor, Film and Media Studies, State University of New York, College at 
Purchase  
Sounding Screen Ambiance: Acoustic Culture and Transmediality in 1920s–1940s Chinese Cinema

P R E D I S S E R T A T I O N - S U M M E R  T R A V E L  G R A N T S  I N  C H I N A  S T U D I E S

HARLAN DAVID CHAMBERS, Doctoral Student, Modern Chinese Literature and Culture, Columbia 
University
In Search of the Commune: China’s Cultural Experiments for a New Society (1947 to 1962)

KUN HUANG, Doctoral Student, Comparative Literature, Cornell University 
Invoking Blackness: Racial Comparison in “Afro-China” Encounters

ELLEN M. LARSON, Doctoral Student, Art History, University of Pittsburgh 
Nostalgia for the Future: Contemporary Chinese Video Art

YUJIE LI, Doctoral Student, History, University of Chicago 
Wheels and Sweat: Bicycles, Wheelbarrows, and Horse-Drawn Carts in the Everyday Life of Socialist 
China, 1949 to 1976

TIANTIAN LIU, Doctoral Student, Sociology, Johns Hopkins University 
Seeing like the States: Chinese Rural Reform from Above and Below

MÁTYÁS MERVAY, Doctoral Student, History (East Asian & Central European), New York University 
Post-Habsburg Central European Diasporas in China 1915 to 1931

MADDALENA POLI, Doctoral Candidate, Early China, University of Pennsylvania 
Theories of Human Nature (Xing) in Early China (5th c. BCE–2nd c. CE) and Their Implications

YI REN, Doctoral Candidate, History, University of Pennsylvania 
Popular Entertainment in Countryside China: Rural Daily Life and the Cultural Revolution

NAVNIDHI SHARMA, Doctoral Student, Cinema Studies, New York University 
Unexpected Itineraries: Affective Encounters of Indian Cinema and China

MELODY TZE YIN SHUM, Doctoral Student, History, Northwestern University 
The Vietnamese Revolutionary Underground: Vietnamese Revolutionary Networks in South China  
c. 1900 to 1940

BRIAN SPIVEY, Doctoral Student, History, University of California, Irvine 
Under a Westward Shadow: Gansu in the Reform Era

JOSHUA TAN, Doctoral Student, History, University of Wisconsin-Madison 
Creating a Religious Diaspora: Travelling Clergy Across Chinese Worlds in the Twentieth Century

YUAN TIAN, Doctoral Student, History, University of Chicago 
Negotiating Extraterritoriality at the Southwestern Frontier: Grassroots Strategies and Colonial 
Knowledge in Late Qing China (1860 to 1911)

FABIAN HUMBERTO TORO, Doctoral Student, Anthropology, University of California, San Diego 
Landscape Management and Subsistence Strategies of the Proto-Silk Road

CHUAN XU, Doctoral Student, East Asian Languages and Cultures, Columbia University 
Omens of a Revolution: Making Paranormal Knowledge and Bodies in Post-Mao China

YINGCHUAN YANG, Doctoral Student, East Asian Languages and Cultures, Columbia University 
Revolution on Air: Radio Technology and Socialist Culture in China’s Global Engagement

LINDA C. ZHANG, Doctoral Student, Chinese Film, University of California, Berkeley 
Technological Futures: Animated Films and Science Education in China, 1949 to 1964

YIFAN ZHANG, Doctoral Student, Premodern Chinese Literature, Columbia University 
Inscribing the “Airs” of Suzhou: Vernacular Soundscape, Local Knowledge, and Cultural Hybridity in 
Early Modern China, 1450 to 1650

MENGYANG ZHAO, Doctoral Student, Sociology, University of Pennsylvania 
Beyond NGO Activism: Youth Radicalism and New Forms of Civic Engagement in China
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C O L L A B O R A T I V E  R E A D I N G - W O R K S H O P  G R A N T S  I N  C H I N A  S T U D I E S

UFFE BERGETON, Assistant Professor, Asian Studies, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 
“How Can We Talk about the Ritual of Yin?” Warring States Perceptions of Shang Civilization in the 
Light of the Tsinghua Manuscripts

BRANDON DOTSON, Associate Professor, Theology, Georgetown University 
Chinese Divination Traditions in Conversation: “Maheśvara’s Divination Explanations” (Moxishouluo bu) 
in Chinese and Transcultural Contexts

TOBIAS BENEDIKT ZÜRN, Postdoctoral Fellow, Religious Studies Program, Washington University in 
St. Louis 
Global Reception of the Classic Zhuangzi: Song to Ming 

JM CHRIS CHANG, Mellon Fellow, Columbia Society of Fellows in the Humanities, Columbia University 
Revolutionary Routine: Grassroots Sources on Work, Family, and Private Life in Maoist China

L U C E / A C L S  P R O G R A M  I N  R E L I G I O N ,  J O U R N A L I S M  & 
I N T E R N A T I O N A L  A F F A I R S  F E L L O W S H I P S  F O R  S C H O L A R S
EVELYN AZEEZA ALSULTANY, Associate Professor, American Studies and Ethnicity, University of 
Southern California 
Stealth Anti-Muslim Racism in an Age of Islamophobia

LIHI BEN SHITRIT, Assistant Professor, International Affairs, University of Georgia 
Women and the Holy City: Women's Movements in the Struggle over Jerusalem's Sacred Space

ELIZABETH SHAKMAN HURD, Professor, Political Science, Northwestern University 
Religion on the Border

LARISA JASAREVIC, Senior Lecturer, Global Studies, University of Chicago 
Beekeeping in the End Times: Disaster Ecology and Islamic Eschatology in Bosnia and Beyond

NATALIE KHAZAAL, Assistant Professor, Arabic, Georgia Institute of Technology 
Arab Apostates: Media and the Making of a Defiant Minority

AMY ERICA SMITH, Associate Professor, Political Science, Iowa State University 
Religion and Climate Change in Brazil: The Deluge and the Desert

M E L L O N  /  A C L S  C O M M U N I T Y  C O L L E G E  F A C U L T Y  F E L L O W S H I P S
MONIKA BILKA, Professor, History, Chandler-Gilbert Community College 
Remaking a People, Restoring a Watershed: Klamath Tribal Empowerment though Natural Resource 
Governance

TANYA N. COOK, Professor, Sociology, Community College of Aurora 
Always Keep Nerd Fighting: Fandoms as Social Movements

MAGGIE DICKINSON, Assistant Professor, Liberal Arts, City University of New York, Guttman 
Community College 
Repairing Inequality?: Disaster Relief, Deservingness, and the Growing Wealth Gap in the United States

WANDA LITTLE FENIMORE, Assistant Professor, Arts & Letters, University of South Carolina, Sumter 
Elizabeth and Waties Waring: Paving the Rhetorical Road to Brown v. Board of Education

OLIVIA GRUBER FLOREK, Assistant Professor, Communications, Arts, and Humanities, Delaware 
County Community College 
The Celebrity Monarch: Empress Elisabeth and the Modern Female Portrait, 1848–1918

SANTIAGO ANDRES GARCIA, Adjunct Professor, Anthropology and Humanities, Rio Hondo College 
Supporting the Scholarship and Contributions of Indigenous Mexican Students through Clay-Work and 
Self-Reflective Writing
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PADHRAIG HIGGINS, Professor, Social Science, Mercer County Community College
The Rights of the Poor: Poverty in Eighteenth-Century Dublin

SARAH L. HOILAND, Assistant Professor, Behavioral and Social Sciences, City University of New 
York, Eugenio María de Hostos Community College 
Righteous Sisterhood: Constructing a Feminist Biker Identity in a Misogynist Subculture

NATASHA R. HOWARD, Assistant Professor, Communication Studies, Community College of 
Baltimore County 
The Content and Influence of Black Women in Hip Hop

SUSAN JACOBOWITZ, Associate Professor, English, City University of New York, Queensborough 
Community College 
Far from Childhood: A Holocaust Memoir

SUSAN E. KALT, Professor, Language, Roxbury Community College 
Telling Stories Our Way: Changes in the Evidential System of Southern Quechua

ANDREA LOWGREN, Instructor, History, Portland Community College 
The Reasons We Are Here: Oral Histories of Immigration at Portland Community College

AARON MARGOLIS, Associate Professor, Arts, Humanities, and Social Sciences, Kansas City Kansas 
Community College 
Negotiating Boundaries: Resistance, Cooperation, and State-Building in the Guatemalan-Mexican 
Borderlands

ANDREA MORRELL, Assistant Professor, Anthropology, City University of New York, Guttman 
Community College 
Prison Town: Race, Work, and Making the Carceral State in Elmira, New York

SONIYA MUNSHI, Assistant Professor, Social Sciences, Human Services, and Criminal Justice, City 
University of New York, Borough of Manhattan Community College 
Cultural/Sane: Immigrant Domestic Violence Survivors, Mental Health, and Logics of Citizenship

JENNIFER R. MYHRE, Instructor, Sociology, De Anza College 
1500 Stories: Giving Voice to Economic Inequality

MEENA ARORA NAYAK, Professor, English, Northern Virginia Community College 
The Third Color in Indra’s Bow

JAMES D. NICHOLS, Assistant Professor, History, City University of New York, Queensborough 
Community College 
A Fate Worse than Debt: The Rise and Fall of Peonage in the US-Mexico Borderlands

MICHAEL PHILLIPS, Professor, History, Collin College 
The Strange Career of Eugenics in Texas, 1854–2018

ANTONIO RAMIREZ, Assistant Professor, History and Political Science, Elgin Community College 
Chicagolandia: Oral Histories of Chicago’s Latinx Suburbs

PIRO REXHEPI, Assistant Professor, Humanities and Social Sciences, Northampton Community College 
Geopolitical Whiteness: Euro-Atlantic Integration and the Postsocialist Assembling of Race and Sexuality 
in the Balkans

RANDALL A. SALM, Assistant Professor, Arts, Humanities, Social Sciences, and Education, College of 
Southern Maryland 
Prewar, Wartime, and Postwar Identity of Former Child Soldiers in Colombia and Syria

JUSTINE M. SHAW, Professor, Social and Behavioral Sciences, College of the Redwoods 
Resilient Populations during the Late Terminal Classic in the Cochuah Region of the Yucatan Peninsula

AMY E. TRAVER, Associate Professor, Social Sciences, City University of New York, Queensborough 
Community College 
New York's Dairy Dependents: The Children’s Aid Society’s Emigration Program and Upstate Dairy 
Farming, 1853–1929

ERICA M. VOGEL, Associate Professor, Anthropology, Saddleback College 
K-Pop in Mexico: Creating and Consuming Globalization through “La Ola Coreana”

JEWON WOO, Associate Professor, English, Lorain County Community College 
From Archival Absence to Digital Presence: (Dis)Covering the Nineteenth-Century Black Press in Ohio

F E L L O W S  A N D  G R A N T E E S C O N T I N U E D
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M E L L O N / A C L S  D I S S E R T A T I O N  C O M P L E T I O N  F E L L O W S H I P S
CELIA ABELE, Doctoral Candidate, French, and Comparative Literature and Society, Columbia 
University
Collecting Knowledge, Writing the World: An Enlightenment Project?

KESSIE ALEXANDRE, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, Princeton University 
Floods and Fountains: Toxicity and Revitalization through Newark's Waterworks

WILLIAM BAMBER, Doctoral Candidate, Near and Middle East Studies, University of Washington 
Fez & Sherwani: Self-fashioning, Consumption, and Ottoman Influence in Nineteenth-Century South Asia

JOHN BARDES, Doctoral Candidate, History, Tulane University 
Mass Incarceration in the Age of Slavery and Emancipation: Fugitive Slaves, Poor Whites, and Prison 
Development in Louisiana, 18051898

ANITA N. BATEMAN, Doctoral Candidate, Art, Art History & Visual Studies, Duke University 
Ethiopia in Focus: Photography, Nationalism, Diaspora, and Modernization

LORENZO BONDIOLI, Doctoral Candidate, History, Princeton University 
Peasants, Merchants, and Caliphs: Capital and Empire in Fatimid Egypt, 900–1200 CE

SVETLANA BORODINA, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, Rice University 
Needed Subjects: An Ethnography of the Formation of the Inclusion Complex in Russia

BENJAMIN BRADLOW, Doctoral Candidate, Sociology, Brown University 
Urban Origins of Democracy and Inequality: Governing São Paulo and Johannesburg, 1985–2016

SEAN KIM BUTORAC, Doctoral Candidate, Political Science, University of Washington 
States of Insurrection: Race, Resistance, and the Laws of Slavery, 1690–1876

MARGARITA MERCEDES CASTROMAN, Doctoral Candidate, English, Rutgers University-New 
Brunswick 
Collecting Race: The Archival Impulse in Twentieth-Century Black Literature and Culture

RAFAEL CESAR, Doctoral Candidate, Spanish and Portuguese, New York University 
Fictions of Racelessness: The Latin American Racial Imaginaries of Angola, 1901–2002

SANDY F. CHANG, Doctoral Candidate, History, University of Texas at Austin 
Across the South Seas: Gender, Intimacy, and Chinese Migrants in British Malaya, 1870s–1930s

MEGHNA CHAUDHURI, Doctoral Candidate, History, New York University 
A Measure of Value: Life, Land, and Agrarian Finance in South Asia, 1830–1950

GABRIELLE E. CORNISH, Doctoral Candidate, Musicology, University of Rochester 
Sounding Socialist, Sounding Modern: Music, Technology, and Everyday Life in the Soviet Union, 
1956–1975

KYLE ELLISON DAVID, Doctoral Candidate, History, University of California, Irvine 
Children of the Revolution: Childhood and Conflict in Rural North China, 1937–1948

KATE DRISCOLL, Doctoral Candidate, Italian Studies, University of California, Berkeley 
Torquato Tasso among the Muses: Gendered Communities of Readership and Response in Early Modern Italy

DAVID E. DUNNING, Doctoral Candidate, History, Princeton University 
Writing the Rules of Reason: Notations in Mathematical Logic, 1847–1937

USMAAN M. FAROOQUI, Doctoral Candidate, Political Science, University of Massachusetts Amherst 
Precarious Pipes: Governance, Informality, and the Politics of Access in Karachi

SARAH E.K. FONG, Doctoral Candidate, American Studies and Ethnicity, University of Southern 
California 
Making Citizens: Racialization, Settler Colonialism, and the Logics of Social Welfare, 1865–1924

CAMILA A. GAVIN, Doctoral Candidate, Ethnic Studies, University of California, San Diego 
Chicanas in Solidarity with Chile: Transnational Feminisms, the Chicana/o Movement, and Culture

MATTHEW GHAZARIAN, Doctoral Candidate, Middle Eastern, South Asian, and African Studies, 
Columbia University 
Famine and Sectarianism in Ottoman Anatolia, 1839–1894

DAVID NEWMAN GLOVSKY, Doctoral Candidate, History, Michigan State University 
Belonging Beyond Boundaries: Constructing a Transnational Community in a West African Borderland 
since 1867
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DANIEL A. GRANT, Doctoral Candidate, Geography, University of Wisconsin-Madison
Fluid Geographies: Race, Boundaries, and Territory in the Colorado River Borderlands

MARICARMEN HERNANDEZ, Doctoral Candidate, Sociology, University of Texas at Austin 
To Build a Home: Informal Settlements and Environmental Inequality in Esmeraldas, Ecuador

REBECCA H. HOGUE, Doctoral Candidate, English, University of California, Davis 
Archipelagos of Resistance: Anti-Nuclear Writing of Oceania, 1975–2018

GERARD HOLMES, Doctoral Candidate, English, University of Maryland, College Park 
Discretion in the Interval: Emily Dickinson’s Musical Performances

POYAO HUANG, Doctoral Candidate, Communication and Science Studies, University of California, 
San Diego 
Becoming HIV Negative on PrEP: The Material Culture of HIV Medicine and Gay Taiwanese Men’s Sexual 
Health

TARYN D. JORDAN, Doctoral Candidate, Women's, Gender, and Sexuality Studies, Emory University 
Black Soul: A Feminist Genealogy of Feeling from the Colombian Exchange to Black Lives Matter

HYEOK HWEON KANG, Doctoral Candidate, East Asian Languages and Civilizations, Harvard University 
A Hundred Crafts: Technology, Knowledge, and the Military in Late Chos�n Korea, 1592–1910

ANNA KARPUSHEVA, Doctoral Candidate, Slavic Languages and Literatures, University of Kansas 
In Search of a Form for Soviet Trauma: Svetlana Alexievich’s Prose between History and Literature

ANNA KELNER, Doctoral Candidate, English, Harvard University 
Tempting Visions: Women’s Visionary Writing and Its Regulation in Late Medieval England

MATTHEW KILBANE, Doctoral Candidate, English, Cornell University 
Lyric Accompaniment: Poetry, Media, Society

ELIZABETH KINNAMON, Doctoral Candidate, Gender and Women's Studies, University of Arizona 
Attention as Method: Marxism, Feminism, and the Politics of Presence

CHARLES A. KOLLMER, Doctoral Candidate, History of Science, Princeton University 
From Elephant to Bacterium: Microbes, Microbiologists, and the Chemical Order of Nature

ALLISON KORINEK, Doctoral Candidate, French Studies and History, New York University 
Lost in Translation: Language and Colonial Rule in Nineteenth-Century French Algeria

JESÚS LUZARDO, Doctoral Candidate, Philosophy, Fordham University 
Nostalgic Pasts, Ironic Futures: On the Temporal Modalities of Whiteness

CLAIRE E. NASHAR, Doctoral Candidate, English, University at Buffalo, State University of New York 
Bad Translator: Experimental Translation in New North American Poetry

BRIANNA NOFIL, Doctoral Candidate, History, Columbia University 
Detention Power: Jails, Camps, and the Origins of Immigrant Incarceration, 1900–2002

CAROLINA ORTEGA, Doctoral Candidate, History, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign 
De Guanajuato to Green Bay: A Generational Story of Labor, Place, and Community, 1926–2010

YALCIN OZKAN, Doctoral Candidate, Sociology, University of Massachusetts Amherst 
Righting a Death on the Job: The Politics of Fatal Work Accident Lawsuits in Turkey

ANDREA PAUW, Doctoral Candidate, Spanish, Italian, and Portuguese, University of Virginia 
Verses to Live By: Aljamiado Poetry in Mudejar and Morisco Communities

CARO PIRRI, Doctoral Candidate, Literatures in English, Rutgers University-New Brunswick 
Settlement Aesthetics: Theatricality, Form, Failure

JULIE M. POWELL, Doctoral Candidate, History, The Ohio State University 
The Labor Army of Tomorrow: Masculinity and the Internationalization of Veterans’ Rehabilitation, 
1914–1924

ELIZABETH JOY REYNOLDS, Doctoral Candidate, East Asian Languages and Cultures, Columbia 
University 
Economies of the High Plateau: Monasteries, Merchants, and Ulak Transportation in Tibet, 1904–1959

EMMA RODMAN, Doctoral Candidate, Political Science, University of Washington 
The Idea of Equality in America
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VALENTINA J. ROZAS-KRAUSE, Doctoral Candidate, Architecture, University of California, Berkeley
Memorials and the Cult of Apology

SONIA RUPCIC, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
Righting Sexual Wrongs? Personhood, Intent, and Sex in a former South African Homeland

MICHAEL L. SABBAGH, Doctoral Candidate, Sociology, Wayne State University 
Tax Foreclosure, Racialized Dispossession, and Belonging in Post-2008 Detroit

NICOLÁS SÁNCHEZ, Doctoral Candidate, Romance Studies, Duke University 
The Minted-City: Money, Value, and Crises of Representation in Nineteenth-Century Colombia, 1825–1903

ALLISON M. SERRAES, Doctoral Candidate, English, University of Mississippi 
Carceral Matrix: Black Women’s Writing in Response to Mass Incarceration, 1963–2017

RENEE SHELBY, Doctoral Candidate, History and Sociology, Georgia Institute of Technology 
Designing Justice: Sexual Violence, Technology, and Citizen-Activism

CHELSEA RAE SILVA, Doctoral Candidate, English, University of California, Riverside 
Bedwritten: Middle English Medicine and the Ailing Author

CALEB SIMONE, Doctoral Candidate, Classics, Columbia University 
Enchanted Bodies: Reframing the Culture of Greek Aulos Performance

JESSE SPAFFORD, Doctoral Candidate, Philosophy, City University of New York, The Graduate Center 
The Coherence of Left-Libertarianism: A New Approach to Reconciling Libertarianism and Socialism

SERENA S. STEIN, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, Princeton University 
Farmers, Donors, Settlers, Seeds: Extractivism and Convivial Ecologies in Mozambique’s Agribusiness 
Frontier

SHREYA SUBRAMANI, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, Princeton University 
Second Chance Entrepreneur: Prisoner Reentry Governance in the American City

RANDA MAY TAWIL, Doctoral Candidate, American Studies, Yale University 
Routes of Race: Migration between Ottoman Syria, Mandate Lebanon, and the United States, 1881–1945

ERIC H. THOMAS, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 
Making the Frontier: Contesting Development on the Coast of Patagonia

KEMAL ONUR TOKER, Doctoral Candidate, English, Brandeis University 
The Poetics of the Sharing Economy: Shakespeare and Milton in the Age of the Leviathan

NISHITA TRISAL, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
Banking on Uncertainty: Debt, Default, and Violence in Indian-Administered Kashmir

NIINA MARIA VUOLAJARVI, Doctoral Candidate, Sociology, Rutgers University-New Brunswick 
Precarious Intimacies: Commercial Sex and Migration Under the Nordic Model

ZINA B. WARD, Doctoral Candidate, History & Philosophy of Science, University of Pittsburgh 
Individual Differences in Cognitive Science: Conceptual, Methodological, and Ethical Issues

RACHEL Q. WELSH, Doctoral Candidate, History, New York University 
Proof in the Body: Ordeal, Justice, and the Physical Manifestation of Proof in Medieval Iberia, ca. 
1050–1300

DANIEL J. WILLIFORD, Doctoral Candidate, History, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor 
Concrete Futures: Technologies of Urban Crisis in Colonial and Postcolonial Morocco

RIXT L. WOUDSTRA, Doctoral Candidate, History, Theory and Criticism of Architecture and Art, 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
Countering Independence: Architecture, Decolonization, and the Design of Stability in British Africa, 
1945–1963

FARREN YERO, Doctoral Candidate, History, Duke University 
Laboratories of Consent: Vaccine Science in the Spanish Atlantic World, 1779–1840
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M E L L O N  /  A C L S  P U B L I C  F E L L O W S
JESSICA BIRD, PhD, History, Temple University
Appointed as Communications Project Manager, Center for Court Innovation

JESSICA ANN CAREY-WEBB, PhD, Spanish and Portuguese, University of Texas at Austin 
Appointed as Campaign Advocate, Latin America Project, Natural Resources Defense Council

BENJAMIN G. CLARY, PhD, Comparative Literature, Emory University 
Appointed as Senior Research Analyst, American Public Media

JENNIFER E. COSSYLEON, PhD, Sociology, Loyola University Chicago 
Appointed as Policy Advisor, Community Change

ELANDRE DEDRICK, PhD, Cultural Anthropology, Stanford University 
Appointed as Program Officer, German Marshall Fund of the United States

ELIZABETH H. DEYOUNG, PhD, Irish Studies, University of Liverpool 
Appointed as Policy Analyst, Reinvestment Fund

ANNIE GALVIN, PhD, English, University of Virginia 
Appointed as Associate Editor, Public Books

NICOLE MARIE GERVASIO, PhD, English & Comparative Literature, Columbia University 
Appointed as Festival Programs Manager, PEN America

JOSEPH HALEY, PhD, English, Johns Hopkins University 
Appointed as Program Manager, World Justice Project

MADHURI KARAK, PhD, Cultural Anthropology, City University of New York, The Graduate Center 
Appointed as Community Engagement Manager, Center for Behavior and the Environment, Rare

MARGARITA KOMPELMAKHER, PhD, Theater History, University of Minnesota, Twin Cities 
Appointed as Community Engagement & Audience Development Manager, Alliance Theatre

MOLLY LAAS, PhD, History of Science, University of Wisconsin-Madison 
Appointed as Editor, Data & Society

LARA R. LANGER, PhD, Art History, University of Maryland, College Park 
Appointed as Grants Manager, Harriet Beecher Stowe Center

MERYLEEN MENA, PhD, Cultural Anthropology, University of Colorado Boulder 
Appointed as Policy & Budget Analyst, Citizens' Committee for Children of New York

IRA S. MURFIN, PhD, Theatre, Northwestern University 
Appointed as Program Manager, Chicago Humanities Festival

DANIEL THREET, PhD, Philosophy, Georgetown University 
Appointed as Research Analyst, National Low Income Housing Coalition

CAROLINE F. TYNAN, PhD, Political Science, Temple University 
Appointed as Research Manager, Committee to Protect Journalists

SHUXUAN ZHOU, PhD, Feminist Studies, University of Washington 
Appointed as Senior Researcher, Seattle Office for Civil Rights

AMANDA ZOCH, PhD, English, Indiana University Bloomington 
Appointed as Legislative Policy Specialist, National Conference of State Legislatures

SCOTT ZUKOWSKI, PhD, English, State University of New York, Stony Brook 
Appointed as Outreach Programs Manager, Library of America
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M E L L O N / A C L S  S C H O L A R S  &  S O C I E T Y  F E L L O W S H I P
JONATHAN SHAPIRO ANJARIA, Associate Professor, Anthropology, Brandeis University
Designing Sustainable and Equitable Streets: A Scholarly and Governmental Collaboration
For residence at the City Council–City of Cambridge, MA

DAVID S. BARNES, Associate Professor, History and Sociology of Science, University of Pennsylvania 
“Our Misery Was Great”: Narratives of Suffering and Resilience as Windows on Immigrant Health in the 
United States, Past and Present 
For residence at Puentes de Salud, Philadelphia, PA

DEBORAH A. BOEHM, Professor, Anthropology and Gender, Race, and Identity, University of Nevada, 
Reno 
A Study of Unseen Spaces: US Immigration Detention in the Twenty-first Century 
For residence at Freedom for Immigrants, Los Angeles, CA and Oakland, CA

ELIZABETH ALICE CLEMENT, Associate Professor, History, University of Utah 
HIV/AIDS in Utah: Oral History, Archives, and Stigma 
For residence at the Utah AIDS Foundation, Salt Lake City, UT

HELENA FEDER, Associate Professor, English, East Carolina University 
Apprehensions: Six Senses of the World 
For residence at the North Carolina Museum of Art, Raleigh, NC

KIMBERLY A. GAUDERMAN, Associate Professor, History, University of New Mexico 
Practicing Asylum: History and Civic Engagement (A Handbook for Academic Expert Witnesses on Latin 
American Gender, Sexual, and Gang-based Violence, LGBTQ Status, and Mother/Child Asylum Cases) 
For residence at the Women's International Study Center, Santa Fe, NM

CATHERINE GUDIS, Associate Professor, History, University of California, Riverside 
Skid Row, By Design: History, Community, and Activism in Downtown Los Angeles 
For residence at the Los Angeles Poverty Department's Skid Row History Museum and Archives, Los 
Angeles, CA

RALINA L. JOSEPH, Associate Professor, Communication, University of Washington 
Interrupting Privilege 
For residence at the Northwest African American Museum, Seattle, WA

MARISSA LÓPEZ, Associate Professor, English, University of California, Los Angeles 
Picturing Mexican America: A Digital, Visual, Networked History of the Future 
For residence at the Los Angeles Public Library, Los Angeles, CA

SUNAINA MAIRA, Professor, Asian American Studies, University of California, Davis 
Sanctuary, Solidarity, and Missing Stories: Arab Immigrants and Refugees in the Trump Era 
For residence at StoryCenter, Berkeley, CA

RAYNA RAPP, Professor, Anthropology, New York University 
Remix: Disability Arts in an Age of Genetic Testing 
For residence at Positive Exposure, New York, NY

ELIZABETH SON, Associate Professor, Theatre, Northwestern University 
Possessing History: Korean Diasporic Women and the Performance of Persistence 
For residence at KAN-WIN: Empowering Women in the Asian American Community, Chicago, IL

F E L L O W S  A N D  G R A N T E E S C O N T I N U E D
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F E L L O W S  A N D  G R A N T E E S C O N T I N U E D

T H E  R O B E R T  H .  N .  H O  F A M I L Y  F O U N D A T I O N  P R O G R A M  
I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S
G R A N T S  F O R  C R I T I C A L  E D I T I O N S  A N D  S C H O L A R L Y  T R A N S L A T I O N S 
I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S

FRIEDERIKE ASSANDRI, Independent Scholar, Chinese Studies 
A Translation of the Early Tang Court Debates between Buddhists and Daoists from the Third and 
Fourth Chapter of Daoxuan’s Ji gujin Fo Dao lunheng 

JENS E. BRAARVIG, Professor Emeritus, Cultural Studies and Oriental Languages, University of Oslo 
The Eighth Century Schøyen fragments of the Mulasarvastivada Vinaya 

VICTORIA GEORGHIEVNA LYSENKO, Professor, Institute of Philosophy, Russian Academy of 
Sciences, Russia 
Indian Epistemology of Perception in the Context of the Buddhist-Brahmanic Controversy. An Anthology 
of texts. Translations from Sanskrit into Russian, Preface, Texts, Historico-philosophical Reconstructions, 
Footnotes, Dictionary of Terms, and Indexes 

BILL MAK, Associate Professor, Hakubi Center of Advanced Research / IRH, Kyoto University, Japan 
Sources of Buddhist Astral Science: Amoghavajra’s Xiuyao jing and Entsu’s Bukkokurekishohen

WEN ZHAO, Lecturer, Philosophy, Nankai University, China 
An English Translation of a Sanskrit “Buddhist Yoga Manual” from Kuca

D I S S E R T A T I O N  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S

REBECCA M. BLOOM, Doctoral Candidate, Asian Langauges & Cultures, University of Michigan– 
Ann Arbor 
Pictures to Live By: An Iconography of the Tibetan Buddhist Monastic Code

YI DING, Doctoral Candidate, Religious Studies, Stanford University 
Sino-Tibetan Divine Transactions: The Transformation of Buddhist Public Liturgies at Dunhuang 
(8th–10th Centuries)

MEGHAN HOWARD, Doctoral Candidate, Buddhist Studies, University of California, Berkeley 
Local Contact: How the Buddhist Monk Facheng/Chödrup Negotiated Sino-Tibetan Exchange on the 
Ninth-Century Silk Road

JESSE ROBERT LEFEBVRE, Doctoral Candidate, Buddhist Studies, Harvard University 
Hasedera and the Proliferation of Icon and Place in Medieval Japan

JUE LIANG, Doctoral Candidate, Religious Studies, University of Virginia 
Conceiving the Mother of Tibet: The Life, Lives, and Afterlife of Yeshe Tsogyel

REBECCA MENDELSON, Doctoral Candidate, Religious Studies, Duke University 
Democratizing Zen: Reform and Innovation in Modern Japanese Rinzai (1868–1945)

JOHN PICKENS, Doctoral Candidate, South and Southeast Asian Studies, University of California, 
Berkeley 
The Rise of the Guru in Eleventh- to Thirteenth-Century Indian and Tibetan Buddhism

KARL T. SCHMID, Doctoral Candidate, Religion, Emory University 
Knowing How to See the Good: Kamalaśīla’s Theory of Vipaśyanā

ANDREW STEVEN TAYLOR, Doctoral Candidate, Religious Studies, University of Virginia 
Recovering the Lost Buddhism of Dêgê: Ecumenicism as a Discourse of Resistance

YUE ERIC TOJIMBARA, Doctoral Candidate, Buddhist Studies, University of California, Los Angeles 
Buddhism, Print, and the Culture of Intellectual Conflict in Early Modern Japan (1600–1868)

ALEKSANDRA WENTA, Doctoral Candidate, Oriental Studies, University of Oxford  
Early Tantric Buddhist Magic: Origins, Intertextuality, and Transmission of the Vajrabhairavatantra
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P O S T D O C T O R A L  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S

PIPAL HENG, Doctoral Candidate, Anthropology, University of Hawaii at Manoa  
Theravada Buddhism, Political Economy, and Organizational Change in Post-Angkorian Cambodia

SOORAKKULAME PEMARATHANA, Doctorate Recipient, Religious Studies, University of Pittsburgh 
Bringing the Buddha Closer: The Role of Venerating the Buddha in the Modernization of Buddhism in 
Sri Lanka

ZIJIE LI, Postdoctoral Fellow, Institute for Research in Humanities, Kyoto University, Japan  
A Study on Tathagatagarbha and Consciousness-only Ideas, Focusing on the Early History of Japanese 
Buddhist Thought, Before the Teachings of Kukai and Saicho were Developed, During the Nara and 
Heian Periods

R E S E A R C H  F E L L O W S H I P S  I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S

KALZANG DORJEE BHUTIA, Lecturer, School of Religion, University of Southern California  
Blessings from the Valley of Abundance: An Environmental History of Sikkimese Buddhism

ROBERT DECAROLI, Professor, History and Art History, George Mason University  
The Gods of Buddhism: Regional Deities and Spirits in Early South Asia

HANK GLASSMAN, Associate Professor, East Asian Languages and Cultures, Haverford College  
On the Iconography, Ritual, and History of the Gorinto Grave in Japan

ANNE R. HANSEN, Professor, History & Religious Studies, University of Wisconsin-Madison  
When Religion Ends: Buddhist Prophetic Temporality in Cold War Southeast Asia

DAVID (MAX) MOERMAN, Professor, Asian and Middle Eastern Cultures, Barnard College  
Buddhism as Social Practice: Talismanic Oaths and Divine Retribution in Premodern Japan

PEGAH SHAHBAZ, Visiting Scholar, Institute of Islamic Studies, McGill University  
Representations of the Buddha in Persian Literary Culture: The Case of Belawhar and Buyuzasf

ASHLEY C. THOMPSON, Professor, History of Art and Archaeology, SOAS, University of London  
The Work of Buddhist Art: Reconstructions of Cambodia after Angkor

N E W  P R O F E S S O R S H I P S  I N  B U D D H I S T  S T U D I E S

No New Professorships were awarded during FY2019.
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S E L E C T I O N  C O M M I T T E E S 
F O R  F E L L O W S H I P  A N D  G R A N T  C O M P E T I T I O N S

A C L S  D I G I T A L  E X T E N S I O N  G R A N T S
JESSE CASANA, Dartmouth College

KATHLEEN FITZPATRICK, Michigan State University

JULIA FLANDERS, Northeastern University

ANNE KELLY KNOWLES, University of Maine, Orono

ANGEL DAVID NIEVES, San Diego State University

MICHAEL ROY, Middlebury College

A C L S  F E L L O W S H I P S
ROWLAND ABIODUN, Amherst College

ANA LUCIA ARAUJO, Howard University

PETER ARNADE, University of Hawaii at Manoa

ULRICH BAER, New York University

MICHAEL B. BAKAN, Florida State University

DANIEL BERMAN, Temple University

ROBERT LAMBERT BERNASCONI, Pennsylvania State University

ERIC J. BULSON, Claremont Graduate University

INDRANI CHATTERJEE, University of Texas at Austin

ANNE ANLIN CHENG, Princeton University

JOHN F. COLLINS, City University of New York, Queens College

JULIA L. DRIVER, Washington University in St. Louis

PATIENCE EPPS, University of Texas at Austin

MARIAN H. FELDMAN, Johns Hopkins University

DEBORAH K. FITZGERALD, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

DANIEL GOLDMARK, Case Western Reserve University

AMY HUNGERFORD, Yale University

REBECCA JORDAN-YOUNG, Barnard College

PAUL W. KROLL, University of Colorado Boulder

M. SUSAN LINDEE, University of Pennsylvania

ADELINE MASQUELIER, Tulane University

MICHELLE ANN MCKINLEY, University of Oregon

KENNETH R. MILLS, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor

EIKO MARUKO SINIAWER, Williams College

LYNNE TIRRELL, University of Connecticut

JAMES A. TYNER, Kent State University

JASON D. WEEMS, University of California, Riverside

PETER S. WELLS, University of Minnesota, Twin Cities

ADIA HARVEY WINGFIELD, Washington University in St. Louis

C O M PA R AT I V E  P E R S P E C T I V E S  O N  C H I N E S E  C U LT U R E  A N D  S O C I E T Y  G R A N T S
BEVERLY BOSSLER, University of California, Davis 

WENDY SWARTZ, Rutgers University

FENG WANG, University of California, Irvine

F R E D E R I C K  B U R K H A R D T  R E S I D E N T I A L  F E L L O W S H I P S  F O R  R E C E N T LY 
T E N U R E D  S C H O L A R S
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Good morning and welcome to the 100th annual 
meeting of the American Council of Learned Societies, 
which is actually—because governance at ACLS is 
always charmingly complicated—the 102nd meeting 
of the Council and the 98th of the Corporation. It is 
nicely fitting, however, that we meet in New York 
City, where our very first meeting took place in 1920. 
Today, in the last of my 16 reports to the Council, I’ll 
be speaking about our work of the last year, but 
perhaps because I’ve been thinking more and more 
about the study of Chinese poetry into whose waters 
my toes have only occasionally dipped in recent 
decades, I want to open by quoting a passage from 
the Analects in which Confucius describes his peda-
gogical philosophy.

I never enlighten anyone who has not been 
driven to distraction by trying to understand a 
difficulty or who has not got into a frenzy 
trying to put his ideas into words. When I have 
pointed out one corner of a square to anyone 
and he does not come back with the other 
three, I will not point it out to him again. VII.8

The value of reticence as challenge to a student or 
reader was to characterize much of the Chinese literary 
tradition. Many of the sixth-century BC. collection of 
305 poems known as the Book of Songs that Confucius 
exhorted his students to study, for example, provide 
hints as to what they’re about and who the speaker 
is—a woman being sent into a marriage that she does 
not want, a soldier praising the valor of his commander, 
or a citizen complaining about the depredations of his 
ruler—but these were only hints. Poetry provided 
readers the opportunity, and the obligation, to fill in 
the missing corners, and it was this active work of the 
mind that Confucius insisted on. It meant that readers 
would always have something to do. I’d like to suggest 
that this call for an active and imaginative hermeneutics 
—for readers who complete the square before them—
has in many ways always been the work of this Council. 
You who are assembled here today represent a good 
cross-section of the ACLS community on whom we 
depend for this engagement: my colleagues on the staff 
of ACLS, the more than 600 reviewers and panelists 
who participate in fellowship selection, institutional 
leaders who represent the members of our Associates 
and Research University Consortium, fellows, funders 

who have supported our work, executive directors and 
delegates from our member societies, board members, 
and many other friends. Thank you: it’s great to have 
you here.

Some of our collective work in responding with the 
other three corners and “completing the picture” before 
us is about reading the more than 3,500 fellowship 
applications that we receive in our 14 fellowship 
programs. Many of you have helped us so you know 
well the iterative process of working through a tranche 
of proposals. Sometimes one begins with a fear that 
they’re all just too good, and it won’t be possible to 
differentiate among them. But soon enough, one finds 
that patterns and orders and rankings become 
apparent—if not on the first run-through, then surely 
by the second or third. Weighing a scholar’s proposal in 
some ways requires providing the missing corners of a 
picture: Can this person finish this project? Will the 
project have resonance? We’re making a series of bets, 
of investments—but more than anything, doing so is an 
interpretive act of imagining the completion of what 
one has read. And I am very happy to report that in 
2019 we expect to award a record $25 million that will 
enable individual scholars and other grantees to 
complete their work. You’ll hear about this, and more, 
from Matthew Goldfeder.

This year my colleagues also launched two new 
 initiatives, both designed in partnership with (and 
funded by) The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation. The 
first of these, led by Rachel Bernard, supports the 
research of individuals whose primary academic 
 affiliation is a community college. The awardees have 
yet to be announced, but the applicants came to us 
from 117 different institutions—and as many of you 
know, this is the tip of a very large iceberg (since there 
are over 1100 community colleges in the country, 
which are teaching 40 percent of those enrolled in 
higher education and thus the lion’s share of students 
studying the humanities). When we launch a new 
program, we’re ready for anything, but we are ready 
mostly to learn and refine what we do. We anticipated 
that we’d receive a variety of proposals, and we did: 
from traditional research topics to projects that 
involved students and local communities in a wide 
range of ways. We (and our reviewers) approached 
this new program without any single notion of the 
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model of work that would “complete the picture” of 
our program, and we were not disappointed. The list 
of 26 awardees will be announced soon, and then 
we’ll open the call for next year’s competition—
expecting, as always, to learn as we go. 

Our second new program, Scholars and Society, 
directed by John Paul Christy, enables faculty who 
teach and advise PhD students to conduct research 
projects while in residence at cultural, media, 
government, policy, or community organizations of 
their choice. The awards encourage fellows and their 
colleagues at the host institutions to create mutually 
beneficial partnerships in which they can collaborate, 
interact, and learn about each other’s work,  motivating 
questions, methods, and practices. We’re postulating 
that as faculty “complete a picture” of their scholarly 
work outside of the academy’s walls and bring their 
research into public engagement, they can then take 
that experience of engaging with societal issues back 
into their work on campus of shaping curricula and 
guiding graduate students. That there might be some 
fundamental connection between the external world 
and the world of humanistic expression is, by the way, 
a well-known assumption of a preface to the Book of 
Songs, which posits a direct correlation between the 
two and also tells us that “for correcting successes 
and failures, for arousing heaven and earth, and for 
moving ghosts and spirits, nothing surpasses poetry.”

Now, to be sure, not all of the scholars who are being 
embedded in organizations ranging from the Skid 
Row History Museum & Archive in Los Angeles to the 
Cambridge City Council are poets! But there’s no 
question that they are engaging with issues of great 
human and societal import. Their work will include, 
for example, a study that illuminates the lived 
experiences of migrants in detention in the United 
States and a partnership with the Utah AIDS 
Foundation to chronicle the challenges that faced the 
few people who were willing to treat the disease in the 
state in the 1980s and ’90s.

•  In addition to coming together to review 
proposals in programs like these, the 
 communities we mobilize also undertake the 
worldly work of envisioning and implementing 
organizational impact as well. In the past 

year, we have engaged with scholars who are 
helping to define significant institutional and 
organizational priorities, practices, and norms 
(in addition to their scholarly aims), and I’ll 
just provide four examples.

•  First, we are delighted to report that, thanks 
to a generous grant in honor of our centennial 
from the Carnegie Corporation, the ACLS 
African Humanities Program (which under 
Andrzej Tymowski’s directorship has 
supported the work of 400 humanists in 
universities in Ghana, Nigeria, South Africa, 
Tanzania, and Uganda) will continue for 
three more years. In addition to producing 
articles and books, these scholars are creating 
a trans-institutional and transnational 
support structure for a tapestry of humanistic 
scholarship. My colleagues who attended the 
program’s January Regional Congress in Dar 
es Salaam report that while there was much 
jubilation about the $5 million Carnegie 
grant, there was no resting easy at the good 
news. A steering committee of the African 
scholars supported by (and supportive of) the 
program is thus deeply engaged in strategic 
discussions about how to best maintain 
momentum after the funding runs out. 
Having taken a page from our own  experience 
about the value of professional societies, they 
are considering what sort of association will 
be the optimal vehicle for continuing their 
work. Their efforts will, we hope, serve to 
develop a sustainable infrastructure for African 
humanistic scholarship for which many years 
of Carnegie support have  dramatically laid 
the foundation. 

•  Second, the leaders of ACLS’s member 
 societies, gathering together in November, 
also spent time in collaborative work about 
how their associations can support their 
members during a time of ever greater 
 awareness of the profound challenges 
 associated with sexual harassment and 
sexual assault. As you all know, societies 
host meetings and honor members with 
prizes and awards, but in recent years they’ve 
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had to give much more serious consideration 
to how the behavior of members can no 
longer be viewed as tangential to their roles in 
their  community. As a consequence, society 
leaders have become deeply engaged with 
how their organizations must develop 
policies not only for responding to complaints 
and concerns but also for creating the best 
environment for equity and inclusion among 
scholars in the first place. These are down-
to-earth questions to work on, but ones that 
obviously have central importance for all 
members of the societies and the scholarly 
community as a whole. 

•  Third, we’ve been pleased to enable the fruits 
of research to enrich a broader public 
 understanding through programs like the 
Luce/ACLS Program in Religion, Journalism, 
and Inter national Affairs, which is building 
durable connections between the humanities 
and the media through individual fellowships, 
institutional grants, and workshops and 
media training. A recent meeting at Arizona 
State University led by Valerie Popp convened 
scholars of religion, learned society leaders, 
and journalists from outlets like the 
Washington Post, NPR, and CBS News to 
consider how best to promote collaboration, 
mutual understanding, and more thoughtful, 
balanced coverage of religion’s complex roles 
in society.

•  A final example of ACLS’s work in the  
past year that aims to support institutional 
 imperatives (and thereby foster the  scholarship 
of tomorrow) was our reshaping of a Mellon-
supported Postdoctoral Partnership Initiative. 
This was a legacy of our New Faculty Fellows 
Program, which was designed with Mellon 
funding in 2008 to support early career 
scholars in an abysmal economic environ-
ment. Both the foundation and ACLS have 
been curious over the years about whether and 
how the humanities postdoc has been most 
effective—and for whom. Research on these 
programs presents some challenges, since 
neither the fellows nor the departments and 

centers that host them are likely to complain, 
but we were unsure where and when funding 
for these programs was having the most 
impact. We were happy to take inspiration 
from successful efforts at the University of 
Chicago to work with departments to support 
the work of postdocs from  underrepresented 
minority groups, with the  intention of 
converting the fellowship to a tenure-track 
position. We’ve thus focused the remaining 
postdoc funds that we were awarded by 
Mellon toward that end, con tributing, we hope, 
to the broadly-shared institutional priority of 
 diversifying the professoriate. 

At their meeting tomorrow, the leaders of our learned 
societies will be addressing topics both recent and 
perennial, like professional codes of conduct and 
challenges to journal publication, with an optional 
deep dive into fundraising. It won’t surprise you to 
learn that a great deal of my time this past year has 
been spent working the “quiet phase” of the Centennial 
Campaign that went public yesterday. All I can say is 
that this has been truly exhilarating—to be able to 
hear, over and over, from fellows grateful for the 
transformative research support ACLS provided at 
crucial moments of their career, from foundations 
happy to recognize the importance of our efforts to 
provide that support, and from friends endorsing our 
commitment to stewarding and championing the 
humanities. Under the able guidance of our new 
director of philanthropy, Mary Richter, we’re more 
than halfway toward our $125 million goal, which 
aims to strengthen the core of our fellowship support, 
extend the reach of all of our programs, and increase 
our organizational capacity. I’m happy to thank all of 
you who have been, and may choose to become, 
participants in that effort.

It’s been a pleasure to welcome Mary to ACLS, but I 
must report the bittersweet news that two of our longest 
serving employees will be leading my way into 
 retirement over the next few weeks. Candace Frede, 
who’s been with us for 33 years, will start her 
 much-earned next adventure on May 1. Her current 
title is Director of Web and Information Systems, but 
her responsibilities have embraced publication, 
 communication, design, and IT—pretty much all at 
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once. She’s managed with great attentiveness “the 
look” of ACLS, from photos at these meetings (someone 
has called her Candid Candace) to our website, style 
sheet, and brand. And she’ll be followed a month later 
by Cindy Mueller, who perhaps more than anyone else 
has been “the voice” of ACLS to our fellows since 
2002—on the phone in the early years and now, of 
course, mostly by e-mail. As manager of Fellowships 
and Public Programs, Cindy has been chief shepherd 
and handholder to anxious applicants and referees—
some of you perhaps in this room—and lead negotiator 
with institutions, ensuring that our awardees actually 
get paid. We lose half a century of institutional exper-
tise and an immeasurable amount of dedication and 
good will with these two departures. Please join me in 
thanking them for their excellent work.

Let me move to a conclusion by recalling the two 
modes of activities in which ACLS has been engaged: 
the “reading” that enables judgments about scholarly 
merit and the “consideration” of worldly  organizational 
issues that is needed to uphold or update the structures 
that support scholarship. Are they wildly different 
efforts? Is one undertaking more important than the 
other? To the classical Chinese, poetry—and, and 
indeed all humanistic pursuits—did not provoke an 
either/or quandary about ideas versus worldly 
concerns. Poetic composition was a skill any  bureaucrat 
would be expected to master and display, on occasions 
both serious and trivial, and writing poetry was an 
important currency of personal, social, and political 
exchange. I think that we can celebrate the fact that 
the work of the humanities is about the deep scholarly 
engagement with the evidence of a painting, a text, the 
structure of an idea, or language, or a culture, without 
undervaluing the need to manage our bureaucratic 
structures and public engagements as well. (We will 
hear this evening from the historian Lynn Hunt, who 
throughout her career has listened to and engaged 
deeply with the evidence concerning how people lived, 
what they believed, and how their views created the 
history around them. She drinks deeply of scholarship. 
But she also—and I won’t steal her punchlines—
engages with the world. The work of ACLS this year 
has done both.)

Fourteen years ago I began my report by citing not a 
Chinese poem but one by Emily Dickinson:

I stepped from Plank to Plank
A slow and cautious way
The Stars about my Head I felt
About my Feet the Sea.
I knew not but the next
Would be my final inch—
This gave me that Precarious Gait
Some call Experience.

(I’ll note, by the way, that I’d encountered this poem in 
a New York city subway train, where the MTA had 
embarked on a program to put Poetry in Motion: the 
humanities do have a public!) Those of you who are 
familiar with the various orthopedic challenges that 
have afflicted me in the recent past know that my Gait 
is even more Precarious now than it once was. But I’d 
like to thank all of you who have helped to keep me 
upright as I’ve stepped from “Plank to Plank” over the 
past 16 years. Working with this Council has been an 
extraordinary pleasure and an honor. Your astonishing 
range of passions, commitments, and approaches to 
scholarship and the world have made you wonderful 
colleagues, teachers, and friends. 

I’ve especially appreciated your understanding that 
the work of ACLS and of the humanities is a job that 
will never be done, something that countless annual 
meetings before us have concluded as well. And that 
is why we will persist. Reporting from the 1948 ACLS 
annual meeting, B. J. Whiting, the delegate from the 
Medieval Academy, wrote that “There was a  pleasantly 
Utopian undertone to this portion of the discussion.” 
In the humanities we’re proud to be utopian when it’s 
called for and to be idealists all the time. As Pogo 
from the comics cheerfully proclaimed, “We are 
surrounded by insurmountable  opportunities!” But 
we also know how to get things done. I’ll leave at the 
end of June hoping to wade more deeply into other 
waters, confident that Joy Connolly, James Shulman 
and my ACLS colleagues, and all of you will be eager 
to fill in those missing three corners of pictures large 
and small, puzzles of theory and puzzles of practice, 
those we know well and others that have yet to 
appear. And I know that you will do so superbly. 
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February 17, 2020
Board of Directors
American Council of Learned Societies
New York, New York

R E P O R T  O N  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the American Council of 
Learned Societies (the "Council"), which comprise the statements of financial 
position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of activities, 
functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 
to the financial statements.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  F O R  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

The Council's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

A U D I T O R S ’  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements, in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express 

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T

EisnerAmper LLP
Accountants and Advisors
750 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10017-2703
Tel 212.949.8700 Fax 212.891.4100
www.eisnerllp.com



47

no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

O P I N I O N

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the American Council of Learned 
Societies as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its net assets and its 
cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

EISNERAMPER LLP
New York, New York

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T C O N T I N U E D
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American Council of Learned Societies June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

ASSETS
 Cash $ 11,984,589 $ 7,897,997
 Grants receivable, net 13,012,364 11,847,053
 Accounts receivable, net 703,982 527,325
 Endowment investments 135,361,026 130,185,023
 Other investments 39,325,023 41,590,303
 Other assets 57,436 31,879
 Property and equipment, net 2,453,458 2,727,380

$ 202,897,878 $ 194,806,960

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
 Liabilities:
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,161,737 $ 793,921
  Fellowships payable, net 19,164,493 16,724,283
  Deferred revenues 476,548 531,955
  Bank loan payable 2,329,021 2,571,384
  Accrued postretirement medical benefit cost 1,820,503 1,743,850

      Total liabilities 24,952,302 22,365,393

 Commitments and contingencies (see Note J)

 Net assets:
  Without donor restrictions:
   Board-designated endowment:
    Central fellowship program 52,848,160 48,974,263
    Program administration 32,149,839 32,067,065

      Total board-designated endowment 84,997,999 81,041,328

   Undesignated and available for general activities 2,483,678 2,765,317

      Total net assets without donor restrictions 87,481,677 83,806,645

  With donor restrictions:
   Purpose restrictions 53,693,598 51,925,763

   Perpetual in nature:
    Central fellowship restricted endowment 26,489,137 26,427,995
     Program administration and other restricted  

 endowment 10,281,164 10,281,164

      Total perpetual in nature 36,770,301 36,709,159

      Total net assets with donor restrictions 90,463,899 88,634,922

      Total net assets 177,945,576 172,441,567

$ 202,897,878 $ 194,806,960

See notes to financial statements.

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

American Council of Learned Societies
Year Ended 

June 30, 2019
Year Ended 

June 30, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
 Increase in net assets $ 5,504,009 $ 13,756,175
  Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets to net cash  

 provided by operating activities:
   Depreciation 339,984 317,920
   Amortization of debt-issuance costs 7,716 7,716
   Bad debt expense 36,828 9,613
    Net unrealized gains on fair value of investments (5,774,972) (9,684,594)
   Net realized (gains) losses on sales of investments (1,407,458) 2,347,392
   Donated securities (103,369) (72,199)
   Proceeds from the sale of donated securities 103,369 72,199
   Perpetual in nature contributions (61,142) (727,200)
   Changes in:
    Grants receivable, net (1,165,311) 1,165,614
    Accounts receivable, net (213,485) (129,424)
    Other assets (25,557) 3,529
    Accounts payable and accrued expenses 367,816 266,148
    Fellowships payable, net 2,440,210 (2,195,992)
    Deferred revenues (55,407) (2,355)
    Accrued postretirement medical benefit cost 76,653 (118,233)

     Net cash provided by operating activities 69,884 5,016,309

Cash flows from investing activities:
 Proceeds from sales of investments 15,163,193 6,020,944
 Purchases of investments (10,891,486) (9,219,023)
 Purchases of property and equipment (66,062) (253,565)

     Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 4,205,645 (3,451,644)

Cash flows from financing activities:
 Perpetual in nature contributions 61,142 727,200
 Bank loan repayments (250,079) (243,591)

     Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (188,937) 483,609

Increase in cash 4,086,592 2,048,274
Cash, beginning of year 7,897,997 5,849,723

Cash, end of year $ 11,984,589 $ 7,897,997

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
 Interest paid during the year $ 77,664 $ 85,345

 Taxes paid $ 2,000 $ 0

See notes to financial statements.
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N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
American Council of Learned Societies, June 30, 2019 and 2018

N O T E  A  –  O R G A N I Z AT I O N  A N D  S I G N I F I C A N T  ACCO U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

 1. Organization:

   The American Council of Learned Societies (the "Council"), incorporated in Washington, D.C. in 1924, 
was established in 1919 and is located in New York City.  The Council is a private, not-for-profit federation 
of national scholarly organizations, funded largely by grants from private foundations and universities.  
The purpose of the Council is the advancement of humanistic studies in all fields of learning and the 
maintenance and strengthening of relations among the national societies devoted to such studies.

    The Council is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue 
Code, and from state and local taxes under comparable laws.

 2. Basis of accounting:

   The financial statements of the Council have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and 
conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), as 
applicable to not-for-profit organizations.

 3. Use of estimates:

   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Council's 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, 
liabilities, support revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 4. Investments:

   The Council's investments in equity securities, mutual funds, and fixed income securities are 
reported at their fair values in the statements of financial position based on quoted market prices. 
Money-market funds held as part of the Council's investment portfolio are also included in the 
balances reported as investments.

   The Council also has investments in limited partnerships and limited liability companies, which are 
considered to be alternative investments, for which readily determinable fair values do not exist. 
The underlying holdings of the Council's alternative investments consist principally of publicly 
traded domestic and international equity securities. The fair value of the alternative investments 
has been estimated based on the respective net asset value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent 
unit) of each investment, as reported by the particular investment manager. Because of the 
complex management structures and nature of the underlying investments and the inherent 
uncertainty of the valuation of the alternative investments, the Council's management and its 
various investment managers monitor their positions to reduce the risk of potential losses due to 
changes in fair values or the failure of counterparties to perform on a routine basis. Management 
believes the carrying amount of the investments in non-publicly traded securities is a reasonable 
estimate of their fair value. However, such estimated fair values may differ significantly from the 
values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed.

   The Council's investments, in general, are subject to various risks, such as interest-rate, market, and 
credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment vehicles, it is at least reasonably 
possible that changes in the values of those securities could occur in the near term and that such 
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.

   Investment transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Realized gains and losses on 
investments sold, and unrealized appreciation and depreciation on investments held, are reported 
in the statements of activities as increases or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions 
unless their use is restricted through donor stipulation. Realized gains and losses on investments 
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are determined by comparison of the cost of acquisition to proceeds at the time of disposition. 
Distributions from limited partnerships and limited liability companies that represent returns of 
contributed capital reduce the cumulative cost basis of the respective investment. Distributions 
received from limited partnerships and limited liability companies in excess of the Council's 
cumulative cost basis are recognized as realized gains. Unrealized gains and losses on investments 
are determined by comparing the investment's cost to the fair value at the end of each year. The 
earnings from dividends and interest are recognized when earned.

   Donated securities are recorded at their estimated fair values or by their net asset values as determined 
by the Council's management on the date of donation. The Council's policy is to sell the donated 
securities immediately, and, accordingly, for purposes of the statements of cash flows, donated 
securities and the proceeds generated from their sale are included within operating activities.

   Investment expenses include the services of bank trustees, investment managers and custodians. The 
balances of investment management fees disclosed in Note C are those specific fees charged by the 
Council's various investment managers in each fiscal year; however, they do not include those fees 
that are embedded in various other investment accounts and transactions.

   The Council's Board of Directors has adopted a spending-rate policy whereby a predetermined 
amount of each fiscal-year's investment assets is used to fund current operations. For both fiscal-
years 2019 and 2018, respectively, the spending-rate was calculated using 2% of the dollar value of 
the previous year's appropriation. (See Note H [8]).

5.  Property and equipment:

   The Council's property and equipment are stated at their original costs at the date of acquisition, or, if 
contributed, at their fair values at the dates of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Council 
capitalizes items of property and equipment that have a cost of $5,000 or more and a useful life greater 
than one year, whereas minor cost of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  Depreciation 
is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of building improvements 
which is 30 years, and equipment, and furniture and fixtures, which ranges from three to fifteen years. 

   Management evaluates the recoverability of the investment in long-lived assets on an on-going basis 
and recognizes any impairment in the year of determination. Long-lived assets were tested for 
impairment as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and in the opinion of management, there were 
no impairments. However, it is reasonably possible that relevant conditions could change in the near 
term and necessitate a change in management's estimate of the recoverability of these assets.

6.  Deferred debt-issuance costs:

   Costs incurred in connection with the bank loan payable are deferred and amortized over the term 
of the related debt using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective-interest 
method of amortization. These costs are reported in the statements of financial position as a direct 
reduction of the related debt. The amortization of deferred debt-issuance costs is reported as 
interest expense in the statements of functional expenses.

   Interest expense relating to the amortization of deferred bond-issuance costs was approximately 
$7,700 for both fiscal-years 2019 and 2018, respectively. (See Note F).

7.  Accrued vacation:

   Accrued vacation is included as a liability in the financial statements and represents the Council's 
obligation for the potential cost of unused employee vacation time that would be payable in the 
event that all employees left the Council. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the accrued vacation obligation 
was approximately $300,000 and $266,000, respectively, and is reported as part of accounts payable 
and accrued expenses in the accompanying statements of financial position.

N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  C O N T I N U E D

American Council of Learned Societies, June 30, 2019 and 2018
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8.  Net assets:

  (i) Net assets without donor restrictions:

    Net assets without donor restrictions represent those resources for which there are no restrictions by 
donors as to their use and are therefore available for current operations. The Board of Directors has 
allocated substantially all net assets without donor restrictions, exclusive of the amounts representing 
property and equipment, to serve as a board-designated endowment, the earnings of which will be 
applied to the future support of its central fellowship program and administrative expenses. Annually, 
any amount up to, but not greater than, the excess of its revenues without donor restrictions over 
expenses, including unrealized gains or losses on its entire investment portfolio, may be so designated.

  (ii) Net assets with donor restrictions:

    Net assets with donor restrictions represent those resources that are subject to donor imposed 
restrictions, such as specific purpose and/or the passage of time. Also included within net assets with 
donor restrictions are donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature and subject to the requirements 
of the District of Columbia's Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA"). These 
donors have stipulated that those resources be maintained in perpetuity with the resultant income 
and net capital appreciation arising from the underlying assets to be used in satisfaction of the wishes 
of those donors. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends, or a 
purpose restriction is accomplished, or funds are appropriated through an action of the Board of 
Directors, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
are reported in the statements of activities as "net assets released from program restrictions."

  (iii) Restatement of net assets:

    During fiscal-year 2019, through newly discovered donor documentation, management 
determined that certain donor funds received by the Council were intended to be funds to be 
held in perpetuity. The Council has maintained those donor funds within its total endowment 
and has accounted for those funds in accordance with its endowment policies, maintaining 
the original corpus and accumulating and appropriating earnings accordingly; however, in 
accordance with the donors' intent, certain amounts are required to be restated from net 
assets without donor restrictions to net assets with donor restrictions. There was no effect on 
total net assets related to this restatement. This restatement had no effect on the Council's 
total net assets or its changes in net assets for fiscal-years 2019 and 2018.

9.  Revenue recognition:

  (i) Contributions:

    Contributions made to the Council are recognized as revenue upon the receipt of cash or other 
assets, or of unconditional pledges. Contributions are recorded as "with donor restrictions" if 
they are received with donor stipulations or time considerations as to their use. Conditional 
contributions are not recorded as revenue until the donor's specified conditions have been 
met by requisite actions of the Council's management or necessary events have taken place; if 
assets for conditional contributions are received prior to the satisfaction of those conditions, 
they would be recognized in the statements of financial position as funds received in advance. 
Contributions to be received over periods longer than a single year are discounted to present 
value, at an interest rate commensurate with the risk involved.

    Management assess the collectability of outstanding receivable balances and may reserve a 
portion of those receivables based on donor history and specific identification of those 
balances deemed uncollectible.

  (ii) Grant revenue:

    Revenue received as grants from U.S. government agencies, foundations and corporations is 
initially recorded as "with donor restrictions", if such grants are received with donor stipulations 
as to their use. Restrictions are generally met when program and administration expenses 
relating to the designated purpose of the particular contract, grant or award are incurred. As 
the restrictions are met, the support is reclassified as “without donor restrictions.”

N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  C O N T I N U E D

American Council of Learned Societies, June 30, 2019 and 2018
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  (iii) Dues:

    The Council receives dues from its members. Dues applicable to a current year are recognized 
as revenue in that year, while dues received for a future year's membership are deferred and 
recognized on a pro-rata basis over the period of membership.

  (iv) Subscriptions:

    Payments for subscriptions are recognized as income over the period during which the 
subscriptions are fulfilled.

  (v) Royalties:

    The Council receives royalties from the use of its copyrights by third parties. Revenue from these 
royalties is recognized when payments are received. 

10.  Functional allocation of expenses:

   The cost of providing the Council's various programs and supporting services have been summarized 
on a functional basis in the statements of activities. The statements of functional expenses present 
expenses by functional and natural classification. Accordingly, direct costs have been allocated 
among the program and supporting services based on the nature of each expense. Indirect costs 
have been allocated on the basis of time and square footage allocations amongst employees.

11.  Measure of operations:

   The Council includes in its definition of operations all of those revenue and expenses that are an 
integral part of its programs and supporting activities. Long-term investment returns in excess of 
(or less than) amounts related to the Council's authorized spending policy, restricted grant 
investment income, and the pension-related charges other than periodic costs are recognized as 
part of non operating activities.

12.  Income tax uncertainties:

   The Council is subject to the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's (the "FASB") 
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 740, Income Taxes, as it relates to accounting and 
reporting for uncertainty in income taxes. For the Council, these provisions could be applicable to 
the incurrence of unrelated business income tax on transit and qualified parking fringe benefits. 
Since the Council has always recorded any potential tax liabilities and due to its general not-for-
profit status, ASC Topic 740 has not had, and is not anticipated to have, a material impact on the 
Council's financial statements.

13.  Upcoming accounting change:

  (i) Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities:

   In August 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-14, Presentation 
of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. ASU 2016-14 amends financial-statement 
presentations and disclosures.  ASU 2016-14 includes qualitative and quantitative requirements in 
the following areas: (i) net asset classifications, (ii) investment returns, (iii) expense categorizations, 
and (iv) liquidity and availability of resources. ASU 2016-14 was effective for annual reporting 
periods issues for years beginning after December 15, 2017.  Accordingly, the Council was required 
to adopt ASU 2016-14 for its fiscal-year ended June 30, 2019, which under U.S. GAAP is a change in 
accounting principle requiring retroactive application in the financial statements of certain areas, 
whereas certain areas are to be adopted on a prospective basis. Although the Council's adoption 
of ASU 2016-14 had no effect on the Council's total net assets or its changes in net assets for fiscal-
years 2019 and 2018, certain reclassifications were required. Accordingly, the Council changed its 
presentation of its net asset classes and expanded certain footnote disclosures.

14.  Subsequent events:

   The Council evaluated subsequent events through October 26, 2018, the date on which the 
financial statements were available to be issued.

N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  C O N T I N U E D

American Council of Learned Societies, June 30, 2019 and 2018
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N O T E  B  –  G R A N T S  A N D  ACCO U N T S  R E C E I VA B L E

1.  Grants receivable::

  At each fiscal-year end, grants receivable were estimated to be due as follows:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Less than one year $ 10,010,489 $ 6,518,942
One to five years 3,297,011 5,922,616

13,307,500 12,441,558
  Reduction of grants receivable due in excess of one year  

 to present value at a rate of 4% (295,136) (594,505)

$ 13,012,364 $ 11,847,053

   Based on the Council's prior experience with donors, management expects to collect the 
receivables in full and, accordingly, has not established an allowance for uncollectible grants.

2.  Accounts receivable:

   At each year-end, other accounts receivable consisted of amounts due to the Council for 
exchange-type transactions. All amounts are due within one year. Based on the Council's prior 
experience, amounts of approximately $37,000 and $9,600 for fiscal-years 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, are reserved for doubtful collections.

N O T E  C  –  I N V E S T M E N T S

At each fiscal year-end, investments consisted of the following:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost

Money-market funds $ 28,165,787 $ 28,165,787 $ 30,694,890 $ 30,694,890
Corporate bonds 6,827,217 6,500,000 6,601,491 6,500,000
Equity securities 24,530,843 13,927,674 22,509,373 13,935,670
Mutual funds:
 Fixed-income 2,515,164 3,620,238
 Debt/equities 12,371,366 9,340,442 13,453,606 9,386,903
Alternative investments 102,790,836 55,927,987 96,000,802 52,588,438

$ 174,686,049 $ 113,861,890 $ 171,775,326 $ 116,726,139

During each fiscal year, net investment earnings consisted of the following:

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Without Donor  
Restrictions

With Donor 
Restrictions Total

Interest and dividends $  466,608 $ 324,240 $ 790,848
Net realized gains 830,416 577,042 1,407,458
Net unrealized gains 3,407,295 2,367,677 5,774,972
Investment expenses (448,053) (270,906) (718,959)

Net investment income 4,256,266 2,998,053 7,254,319
Less: investment returns based on spending rate (3,756,000) (3,756,000)

Gains in excess of authorized spending rate $  500,266 $ 2,998,053 $ 3,498,319

N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  C O N T I N U E D

American Council of Learned Societies, June 30, 2019 and 2018
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Year Ended June 30, 2018

Without Donor  
Restrictions

With Donor 
Restrictions Total

Interest and dividends $  2,920,476 $ 1,930,082 $ 4,850,558
Net realized losses (1,413,344) (934,048) (2,347,392)
Net unrealized gains 5,831,008 3,853,586 9,684,594
Investment expenses (461,939) (281,310) (743,249)

Net investment income 6,876,201 4,568,310 11,444,511
Less: investment returns based on spending rate (3,683,000) (3,683,000)

Gains in excess of authorized spending rate $  3,193,201 $ 4,568,310 $ 7,761,511

The FASB's ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements, establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy of 
fair-value designations. These valuation techniques are based on observable and unobservable 
inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable 
inputs reflect market assumptions. These two types of inputs create the following fair-value hierarchy:

  Level 1:   Valuations are based on observable inputs that reflect quoted market prices in active 
markets for identical assets at the reporting date.

 Level 2:   Valuations are based on: (i) quoted prices for similar assets in active markets; or (ii) quoted 
prices for those assets, or similar assets, in markets that are not active; or (iii) pricing inputs 
other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable at the reporting date.

 Level 3:   Valuations are based on pricing inputs that are unobservable and include situations 
where: (i) there is little, if any, market activity for the assets; or (ii) the assets cannot be 
independently valued.

Certain of the Council's investments are valued using NAV per share (or its equivalent unit) as a practical 
expedient of fair value. This applies to investments (i) which do not have a readily determinable fair value and 
(ii) the financial statements of which were prepared by the respective investment managers, in a manner 
consistent with the measurement principles of either an investment company or an entity which has the 
attributes of an investment company. Investments that are valued using NAV per share (or its equivalent unit) 
are not required to be categorized within the fair-value hierarchy, and, accordingly, have been excluded from 
the fair-value hierarchy. 

The availability of market data is monitored to assess the appropriate classification of financial instruments 
within the fair-value hierarchy.  Changes in economic conditions or valuation techniques may require the 
transfer of financial instruments from one level to another.

The following tables summarize the fair values of the Council's financial assets at each fiscal year-end, in 
accordance with ASC Topic 820 valuation levels:

June 30, 2019

Investments within the fair-value hierarchy
Investments valued 

at NAV TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $ 28,165,787 $ 28,165,787 $  28,165,787
Corporate bonds $ 6,827,217 6,827,217 6,827,217
Equity securities 24,530,843 24,530,843 24,530,843
Mutual funds 12,371,366 12,371,366 12,371,366
Alternative investments $ 102,790,836 102,790,836

$ 65,067,996 $ 6,827,217 $ 71,895,213 $ 102,790,836 $ 174,686,049

N O T E S  T O  2 019  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  C O N T I N U E D
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June 30, 2018

Investments within the fair-value hierarchy
Investments 

valued at NAV TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $ 30,694,890 $ 30,694,890 $  30,694,890
Corporate bonds $ 6,601,491 6,601,491 6,601,491
Equity securities 22,509,373 22,509,373 22,509,373
Mutual funds 15,968,770 15,968,770 15,968,770
Alternative investments $ 96,000,802 96,000,802

$ 69,173,033 $ 6,601,491 $ 75,774,524 $ 96,000,802 $ 171,775,326

The following table describes the funding commitment and redemption information for the Council’s 
alternative investments:

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Redemption  

Frequency Redemption Notice Period

Limited partnerships: $     38,408 None N/A N/A
13,946,752 Quarterly 30 days
20,953,815 Monthly 10 days

4,086,523 Quarterly 30 days
15,762,662 Quarterly 65 days
13,727,236 Annually N/A

5,062,253 Monthly 30 days
6,784,791 Monthly N/A
3,798,157 Monthly 20 days

Limited liability 
companies: 4,123,585 Quarterly 30 days

4,589,720 Quarterly 30 days
3,251,723 Quarterly 45 days
3,637,191 Annually N/A
3,028,020 Monthly 10 days

102,790,836

N O T E  D  –  P R O P E R T Y  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T
At each fiscal-year end, property and equipment consisted of the following:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Building and improvements $ 4,954,677 $ 4,954,064
Equipment 1,542,203 1,502,253
Furniture and fixtures 284,980 259,481

6,781,860 6,715,798
Less: accumulated depreciation (4,328,402) (3,988,418)

$ 2,453,458 $ 2,727,380
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N O T E  E  –  F E L L O W S H I P S  PAYA B L E

Fellowships and stipends are awarded to institutions and individuals for the advancement of humanistic 
studies in all fields of learning. It is the Council's policy, in conjunction with grant agreements, to allow 
recipients to choose when payments of awards are to be received. Fellowships and stipends are usually 
paid over a period of one to nine years.

The Council records the expense and commitment of these fellowships and stipends when the awards 
are approved by the Council and accepted by the recipient. Fellowships and stipends are estimated to 
be paid as follows:

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2020 $ 17,418,954
2021 1,816,058

Fellowships payable 19,235,012
Reduction in fellowships payables in excess of one year to  
 present value at a discount rate of 2% (70,519)

Fellowships payable, net, end of year $ 19,164,493

During fiscal-years 2019 and 2018, the Council awarded fellowships and stipends of $25,933,923 and 
$20,362,497, respectively.

N O T E  F  –  B A N K  L OA N  PAYA B L E

During fiscal-year 2013, the Council obtained a bank loan of $3,745,000, which matures on May 23, 2023.  
The loan is subject to certain covenants and bears interest at an initial rate of 3.07%. The interest rate will 
increase by 0.2% for every $10,000,000 increment below $40,000,000 that the Council holds in expendable 
cash and investments at the anniversary of the date of the loan. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Council 
was in compliance with all covenants. The Council's property and equipment serve as collateral for the loan. 

Future minimum principal payments due each year under the loan are as follows:

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2020 $   260,352
2021 266,229
2022 275,701
2023 1,556,960

2,359,242
Less: deferred debt-issuance costs (30,221)

$ 2,329,021
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N O T E  G  –  T E M P O R A R I LY  R E S T R I C T E D  N E T  A S S E T S
During each fiscal year, the changes in temporarily restricted net assets (including allocation of gains 
and losses) were as follows:

Balance  
July 1, 2018 

(as restated)
Restricted 
Increases

Release of 
Restrictions

Balance  
June 30, 2019

Purpose restricted:
 Fellowship programs $ 24,550,077 $ 18,973,139 $ (15,423,771) $ 28,099,445
 Vietnam Program/CEEVN 836,952 26,784 (430,079) 433,657
 Special Program 5,646,150 6,810,100 (6,678,632) 5,777,618
 International programs 8,177,698 1,004,705 (4,189,882) 4,992,521
 Centennial fund 280,350 517,281 797,631
Subject to appropriation:
 Accumulated endowment  
   income reserved for 

appropriation 12,434,536 2,573,462 (1,415,272)  13,592,726

   Total purpose restrictions 51,925,763 29,905,471 (28,137,636) 53,693,598

Perpetual in nature:
 Central Fellowship Program:
  Mellon Foundation 12,300,000 12,300,000
  Ford Foundation 7,068,400 7,068,400
   National Endowment for  

 Humanities 3,250,000 3,250,000
  Rockefeller Foundation 1,000,000 1,000,000
   William & Flora Hewlett  

 Foundation 500,000 500,000
  Carnegie Corporation 100,000 100,000
   Carl & Lily Pforzheimer  

 Foundation 180,000 180,000
  Lilian Handlin 1,064,750 3,625 1,068,375
   McClary-Walser Fellowship  

 Fund 100,000 20,000 120,000
  Lea Wakeman 862,450 37,517 899,967
  Other 2,395 2,395

    Total central fellowship  
 program 26,427,995 61,142 26,489,137

  Program Administration  
 and other:

  Mellon Foundation 10,000,000 10,000,000
  Lumiansky Fund 281,164 281,164

    Total program administration  
 and other 10,281,164 10,281,164

   Total perpetual in nature 36,709,159 61,142 36,770,301

    Total net assets with donor  
 restrictions $ 88,634,922 $ 29,966,613 $ (29,966,613) $ 90,463,899
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Balance  
July 1, 2017 

(as restated)
Restricted 
Increases

Release of 
Restrictions

Balance  
June 30, 2018

Purpose restricted:
 Fellowship programs $ 24,619,668 $ 11,363,907 $ (11,433,498) $ 24,550,077
 Vietnam Program/CEEVN 1,159,979 122,597 (445,624) 836,952
 Special Program 5,174,535 6,103,315 (5,631,700) 5,646,150
 International programs 4,734,376 7,451,176 (4,007,854) 8,177,698
 Centennial fund 280,350 280,350
Subject to appropriation:
 Accumulated endowment  
   income reserved for 

appropriation 9,496,898 4,331,608 (1,393,970)  12,434,536

   Total purpose restrictions 45,185,456 29,652,953 (22,912,646) 51,925,763

Perpetual in nature:
 Central Fellowship Program:
  Mellon Foundation 12,300,000 12,300,000
  Ford Foundation 7,068,400 7,068,400
   National Endowment for  

 Humanities 3,250,000 3,250,000
  Rockefeller Foundation 1,000,000 1,000,000
   William & Flora Hewlett  

 Foundation 500,000 500,000
  Carnegie Corporation 100,000 100,000
   Carl & Lily Pforzheimer  

 Foundation 180,000 180,000
  Lilian Handlin 760,000 304,750 1,064,750
   McClary-Walser Fellowship  

 Fund 100,000 100,000
  Lea Wakeman 540,000 322,450 862,450
  Other 2,395 2,395

    Total central fellowship  
 program 25,700,795 727,200 26,427,995

  Program Administration  
 and other:

  Mellon Foundation 10,000,000 10,000,000
  Lumiansky Fund 281,164 281,164

    Total program administration  
 and other 10,281,164 10,281,164

   Total perpetual in nature 35,981,959 727,200 36,709,159

    Total net assets with donor  
 restrictions $ 81,167,415 $ 30,380,153 $ (22,912,646) $ 88,634,922
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N O T E  H  –  ACCO U N T I N G  A N D  R E P O R T I N G  F O R  E N D O W M E N T S

1.  The endowment:

   The Council's endowment was established based on its mission and consists of both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as 
endowment. As required by U.S. GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds, including 
board designated funds, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of 
donor-imposed restrictions.

2.  Interpretation of relevant law:

   As discussed in Note A[8] (ii), UPMIFA is applicable to the Council's institutional funds, including its 
donor-restricted endowment fund.

3.  Endowment net-asset composition by type of fund:

June 30, 2019

Without Donor 
Restrictions

With Donor Restrictions

Total
Amounts Subject 
to Appropriation

Amounts Held  
in Perpetuity

Board-designated endowment funds $ 84,997,999 $ 84,997,999
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ 13,592,726 $ 36,770,301  50,363,027

 Total endowment funds $ 84,997,999 $ 13,592,726 $ 36,770,301 $ 135,361,026

June 30, 2018

Without Donor 
Restrictions

With Donor Restrictions (as restated)

Total
Amounts Subject 
to Appropriation

Amounts Held  
in Perpetuity

Board-designated endowment funds $ 81,041,328 $ 81,041,328
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ 12,434,536 $ 36,709,159  49,143,695

 Total endowment funds $ 81,041,328 $ 12,434,536 $ 36,709,159 $ 130,185,023

Amounts subject to appropriation represent that portion of allocated investment income, derived from 
endowment assets held in perpetuity, that have not be appropriated by the Board of Directors for 
expenditure.
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4.  Changes in endowment net assets:

June 30, 2019

Without Donor 
Restrictions

With Donor Restrictions

Total
Amounts Subject 
to Appropriation

Amounts Held  
in Perpetuity

Net assets, beginning of year $ 81,041,328 $ 12,434,536 $ 36,709,159 $ 130,185,023
Contributions 2,041,133  61,142  2,102,275
Investment return, net 4,256,266  2,573.462  6,829,728
Funds appropriated for expenditure (2,340,728) (1,415,272)  (3,756,000)

 Net assets, end of year $ 84,997,999 $ 13,592,726 $ 36,770,301 $ 135,361,026

June 30, 2018

Without Donor 
Restrictions

With Donor Restrictions

Total
Amounts Subject 
to Appropriation

Amounts Held  
in Perpetuity

Net assets, beginning of year $ 74,680,589 $ 9,496,898 $ 35,981,959 $ 120,159,446
Contributions 1,773,568  727,200  2,500,768
Investment return, net 6,876,201 4,331,608  11,207,809
Funds appropriated for expenditure (2,289,030) (1,393,970)  (3,683,000)

 Net assets, end of year $ 81,041,328 $ 12,434,536 $ 36,709,159 $ 130,185,023

5.  Funds with deficiencies:

   Due to unfavorable market fluctuations, from time to time, the fair value of assets associated with 
individual donor-restricted endowment funds may decline below the historical dollar value of the 
donor's original, restricted contribution; the affected fund is said to be “underwater.” No such 
deficiencies occurred during fiscal-years 2019 and 2018.

6.  Return objectives and risk parameters:

   The Board of Directors evaluates its long-term asset allocation in meeting its fiduciary responsibilities 
for funding programs, protecting its endowment resources, and supporting future spending 
requirements. Accordingly, the board has adopted investment policies for its endowment assets 
that seek to maintain their purchasing power.

7.  Strategies employed for achieving objectives:

   To satisfy its long-term, rate-of-return objectives, the Council relies on a total-return strategy in 
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) 
and current yield (interest and dividends). The Council targets diversified assets, within prudent 
risk constraints.

8.  Spending policy and relation to the spending policy:

   The Council's Board of Directors appropriates from the endowment using a constant growth model 
spending policy.  For fiscal years 2019 and 2018, the spending rate was calculated at 2% of the dollar 
value of the previous year's appropriation.  It is expected that the policy will safeguard the value of the 
endowment over time while reducing the annual spending volatility that comes with adjusting 
endowment draws to varying investment returns. 
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N O T E  I  –  E M P L OY E E - B E N E F I T  P L A N

1.  Defined-contribution 403(b) retirement plan:

   For its eligible employees, the Council provides retirement benefits under a defined-contribution, 
Section 403(b) employee-benefit plan, the assets of which are maintained through the Teachers 
Insurance and Annuity Association of America and College Retirement Equities Fund. The Council 
contributes a minimum of 5% of each eligible employee's salary, as well as matches employee 
contributions up to a maximum of 5% of each eligible employee's salary. Contributions for fiscal-
years 2019 and 2018 were $251,224 and $271,800, respectively.

2.  Postretirement medical benefit plan:

   The Council sponsors an unfunded, noncontributory, defined-benefit postretirement medical plan 
that covers employees hired prior to February 1, 1995.

   The following sets forth the plan's funded status, reconciled with amounts reported in the Council's 
financial statements at each year end:

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations: 
 Expected benefit obligation $ (1,820,503) $ (1,743,850)

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation $ (1,820,503) $ (1,743,850)
Plan assets 0 0

Funded status (excess of obligation over assets) $ (1,820,503) $ (1,743,850)

Net periodic postretirement medical benefit costs included  
 the following components:
  Service cost $ 5,118 $ 5,169
  Interest cost 64,905 66,233
  Net loss amortization 7,727 82,561

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 77,750 $ 153,963

Adjustments to net assets, reported in the statement  
 of activities:
  Net actuarial loss $ 7,727 $ 82,561
  Unrecognized transition obligation (71,967) 136,796

Changes to post-retirement plan other than periodic costs $ (64,240) $ 219,357

Weighted-average assumptions:
 Discount rate 3.25 % 4.00 %
 Medical cost-trend rate 5.50 % 6.00 %

A one percentage-point increase in the assumed health-care cost-trend rates for each fiscal year would 
have resulted in an increase in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of $197,600 as of 
June 30, 2019, and an increase in the aggregate service and interest cost components of net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost of $7,790 as of June 30, 2019.  A one percentage-point decrease in the 
assumed health-care cost-trend rates for each fiscal year would have resulted in a decrease in the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of $172,959 as of June 30, 2019, and a decrease in the 
aggregate service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost of $6,771 as 
of June 30, 2019.

Employer contributions and benefits paid were $65,337 and $52,839 for fiscal-years 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. The estimated amount of the Council's contributions for fiscal-year 2020 is $97,244.
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The following table illustrates the benefit distributions that are expected to be paid over the next ten 
fiscal years:

Year Ended 
June 30,

Expected Benefit 
Distributions

2020 $  97,244
2021 82,539
2022 111,152
2023 112,387
2024 95,241
2025–2029 461,667

N O T E  J  –  CO M M I T M E N T S  A N D  CO N T I N G E N C I E S

1.  Government-funded activities:

   U.S. government grants are subject to audit in the future by governmental authorities. Accordingly, 
the Council could be required to fund any disallowed costs for its own federally supported programs, 
as well as those of the Council for the International Exchange of Scholars that were incurred during 
the period of the Council's stewardship. In management's opinion, any such audits would not result 
in disallowed costs in amounts that would be significant to the Council's operations.

2.  Employment agreement:

   The Council has an employment agreement with its former President which expired on June 30, 
2019. Under the terms of the agreement, the former President is to receive compensation as 
President Emeritus participating in the Council's activities for the period extending from July 1, 
2019 through June 30, 2020.

   The Council also has multi-year agreements with its Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and 
current President through June 2020 and June 2024, respectively. The Council also established a 
deferred compensation plan of Section 457(b) of the Code for the current President.  Contributions 
to this plan began subsequent to fiscal-year end.

3.  Lease:

   The Council leases office space, expiring through August 2023, within the same building where the 
Council currently owns space. 

   The future minimum payments on this lease are as follows:

Year Lease

2020 $ 114,036
2021 116,317
2022 118,643
2023 121,015

$ 470,011

4.  Other contracts:

   In the normal course of business, the Council enters into various contracts for professional and 
other services, which are typically renewable on a year-to-year basis.
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N O T E  K  –  L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  AVA I L A B I L I T Y  O F  R E S O U R C E S

The following reflects the Council's financial assets as of the statement of financial position date, 
reduced by amounts not available for general use within one year of June 30, 2019 because of contractual 
or donor-imposed restrictions or internal designations. Amounts not available include amounts set 
aside by the Board of Directors for growth and sustainability of the Council, that could be drawn upon 
if the Board of Directors approves the action. 

The Council's financial assets available for general use within one year of June 30, 2019 for general 
expenditure are as follows:

Cash $  11,984,589
Grants receivable, net 13,012,364
Accounts receivable, net 703,982
Endowment investments 135,361,026
Other investments 39,325,023

    Total financial assets available within one year 200,386,984

Less:
 Amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year, due to:
  Restricted by donors with:
   Purpose restrictions (53,693,598)
   Perpetual in nature (36,770,301)

    Total amounts unavailable for general expenditure within one year (90,463,899)

 Amounts unavailable to management without Board's approval:
  Board-designated endowment (84,997,999)

     Total financial assets available to meet cash needs for  
 general expenditures within one year $24,925,086

Fellowships payable, net, end of year $  24,925,086

Liquidity policy: 

The Council's policy is to structure its financial assets to be available for its general expenditures, 
liabilities and other obligations as they come due. Additionally, the Council has Board designated net 
assets without donor restrictions that, although the Council doesn't intend to spend for purposes other 
than those identified, could be used to help manage unanticipated liquidity needs, if needed.

N O T E  L  –  CO N C E N T R AT I O N  O F  R E V E N U E

During fiscal-year 2019, approximately 90% of the Council's total support was provided by one donor 
and during fiscal-year 2018, approximately 88% of the Council's total support was provided by three 
donors, respectively.

N O T E  M  –  CO N C E N T R AT I O N  O F  C R E D I T  R I S K

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash and cash-equivalent accounts deposited in high-credit-quality financial institutions, 
the balances of which, from time to time, may exceed federal insurance limits.  However, management 
believes that the Council does not face a significant risk of loss on these accounts due to the failure of 
these institutions.
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